Exclusivity And Elegance an feel so
comfortable and homely.
Exclusivity and elegance combined with comfortable homely living that is beyond
comparison to any other is what Seylan Residencies located at 90, Galle Road,
Colombo 3 offers all its valued customers.
Seylan Towers comprises of two towers. The 17 - storey east tower offers high quality
modern office space. The 11 - storey west tower comprises of 16 luxury apartments.
For your complete relaxation for as long as you want and when ever you want
indulge your self and be dazzled by the spectacular breathtaking view of the Indian
Ocean, the clanging moods of the sea, partake in the tropical sunset and enjoy the
magnificent view of the city at night.

Financial Highlights
							
For the period ended

31-Dec-11

31-Dec-10

Rs.

Rs.

Income Statement
Rent Income

148,451,419

143,156,566

Profit / (Loss) Before Tax

20,983,934

(27,684,091)

Provision for Taxation

(1,552,088)

(55,525)

Profit / (Loss) After Tax

19,431,846

(27,739,616)

Shareholders Fund

4,419,674,542

3,519,170,644

Total Assets

4,801,912,220

4,873,214,050

Stated Capital

1,644,391,650

1,356,078,570

Net Assets

4,419,674,542

3,519,170,644

0.16

(0.30)

13.09%

-19.37%

Return on Equity

0.44%

-0.79%

Return on Total Assets

0.40%

-0.57%

Highest during the year

20.60

23.90

Lowest during the year

10.20

9.25

Last Traded Price		

12.30 			
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Vision
“To be recognized as the premier property management Company in Sri
Lanka which provides an excellent service to its tenants”.

Mission
“We are dedicated to controlling costs while maintaining the highest levels of satisfaction and comfort to our
tenants by responding to their unique requirements and special requests. We listen to them, and then develop
a plan and structure that fits their goals, budgets and needs.
We immaculately upkeep our properties to the highest quality standards by deploying our team of highly
trained professionals”.
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Chairman’s Review
It is my privilege and pleasure to welcome you, on behalf of the
Board of Directors Seylan Developments PLC, to the twentieth
Annual General Meeting and present you the Annual Report and
the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December
2011. The year 2011 was a year of recovery, consolidation and
development from the Sri Lankan perspective. During the year
2011, economy enhanced the impressive growth of 8% in the year
2010. The success of infrastructure development programme under
his Excellency's programme of “Mahinda Chinthana” was evident
from the economic growth recorded in the year 2011.
The apartment and resident property development market grew
considerably in the year 2011, focusing to tap the high income
segment. Although, there was an increase in the rentable space in
the market, the company maintained a growth in the rental income
in the year 2011. The company took initiatives to revise the lease
agreements with Seylan Bank PLC and Ceylinco Hotels Limited
(Raja Bojun) from 1st January 2012. The company also entered
into lease agreement with a new tenant for the Salon area.

Change in Management
To comply with the directive on Corporate Governance jointly issued
by the Securities Exchange Commission of Sri Lanka & the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka, the company appointed two
independent Non-Executive Directors, one a qualified Chartered
Accountant and the other a qualified Civil Engineer, from February
2011 & March 2011 respectively. Mr. S. R. Wijesinghe, Mr V. R. de
Silva and Mr. C. Kotigala resigned from the Board during the year
2011. Mr. H. L. Gunasekara informed to the Board, his intention to
resign during January 2012. Mr. M. K. Muthukumar, Head of Legal,
Seylan Bank was invited to join the Board from January 2012. The
profile of the Board of Directors is included in the annual report
pages 10 to 11.

Development Projects
Due to constraints faced by the company in the development projects funded by the company, and as
recommend by auditors, company made provisions for impairment loss in terms of the Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards. However the company had instituted legal action for the recovery and is expecting to reverse the
provisions in the near future. The property at Union Place, Colombo-2 has been identified for development or
disposal in 2012.
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Financial Performance
The rights issue offered to the Shareholders made during the month of June 2011 was fully subscribed and the
balance sheet was improved with the additional capital infusion of Rs. 813.8mn. The Board of Directors wishes
place on record their appreciation for the confidence placed on them by the shareholders. The funds raised
were used for the settlement of interest bearing loans and overdraft. Rental income which is the main source
of income for the company increased by 3.69%, increasing from Rs.143.16 million to Rs.148.45 million, during
the year under review. The company, turned around from a position of net loss of Rs .27.74 million in the year
2010 to a profit of Rs. 19.43 million in the year 2011. In spite of the rights issue diluting the share base, the net
asset value per share was Rs. 29.87 at the end of the year.

Future Plans
Sri Lanka’s economy is expected to grow at a higher pace than the last two years with the positive contribution
from all sectors of economy and employment opportunities is expected to increase with the boom in the tourist
industry. The domestic inflation is expected to remain in single digit. Our company has already drawn up short
and medium strategic development plans. In the short term plans we intend to develop properties in holiday
destinations and renting same for mainly employees of Seylan Bank PLC and undertake maintenance of
buildings owned by Seylan Bank PLC. In the medium term plan, steps will be taken to initiate legal action to
recover contribution made by company on projects for which impaired provisions has been made.

Acknowledgement
I take this opportunity to express my deep appreciation to my fellow Board members for their continuous
support and guidance given throughout the year. I also wish to place on record my appreciation to Mr. S.R.
Wijesinghe, Mr V.R.de Silva and Mr. C. Kotigala, all of whom resigned from the Board in the year under review
for their services during their tenure.
I wish to record my appreciation to the management team and the staff for their hard work and support
extended in the progress of the company. I wish to thank the tenants for their business relationship and expect
their continuous support during 2012. My sincere gratitude goes to the shareholders for the confidence placed
in us and we the Board wish to ensure that we will be committed to increase the value of your holdings.

........................................
R. Nadarajah
Chairman
6th February 2012.
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Director/Acting general
Manager's Review
It is with great pride that I welcome you to the 20th Annual General
Meeting of Seylan Developments PLC and reiterate that we consider
each of our stakeholders as a true partner in our journey to ensure
that our business remains sustainable. I wish to place on record
our sincere thanks for your continued confidence and support
given to us in making the Rights Issue successful, which made our
challenging journey in the past that much easier to traverse.
Having taken over the office of Director/Acting General Manager
in October 2010, we were able to implement in 2011, the complete
strategic plan that the Board of Directors had conceptualized in the
previous year, to eliminate some of the challenges we had faced.
We as a team with the backing from my Chairman and Board of
Directors entered the fray with the confidence of being able to
deliver results.

Operational Review
You were aware that we began the year with a Rs 27 Mn loss.
We faced cash flow difficulties and a few service agreements too
had to be renewed in order to maintain the building and its electromechanical systems. Our total debt portfolio at that point of time to
Seylan Bank PLC and other external lending institutions was about
Rs. 798 Mn. As you can observe, it was absolutely necessary for
us to work on a funding avenue that would help us meet these
liabilities and obligations and lift us from the mire we were in.
The Rights Issue which we positioned in June 2011 to our
shareholders was the means to eliminate our debts, leave us a with
a clean slate and allow us to begin a new chapter with financial
strength. The qualitative aspects of our company had a competitive
edge with the experienced professional team, whose expertise lay
not only in marketing but in management as well. These features
were coupled with a firm declaration that the company can be turned
around as a strong and stable financially sound independent entity.

The success of the Rights Issue gave us the platform to re-structure and re-strategize our work plans. We
negotiated existing agreements with our external suppliers and valued business partners to create a win-win
solution for both parties, while some legal issues pertaining to external properties are in the process of being
sorted. We also cleared our debt portfolio, while cleaning up our Balance Sheet.
This infusion of funds assisted us in focusing on our immediate challenges, that of maintenance and settlement
of debts. Physical infrastructure was speedily concentrated upon, with electrical distribution, elevator systems
and backup generators brought up to the standards required in maintenance. Unused and disused assets
were sold to improve further cash flow, while service agreements were renewed to ensure that all maintenance
facets are compliant to statutory and authority regulations and standards.
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Our corporate team and the staff should be commended for their dedication and absolute motivation in
journeying with us through troubled times, even with the absence of rewards for their hard work. Their absolute
commitment to creating a sustainable business entity remains an appreciative feature. From a management
perspective, we continue to ingratiate an environment of unity and cohesion, infusing qualitative strategies
that will continue to motivate our team. A culture of ownership, responsibility, accountability and teamwork
was introduced, while work purview was made more cross-functional to ensure that repairs and maintenance
of the building were effected more speedily, efficiently and in a timely manner. Weekly team briefings were
implemented where an open dialogue culture becomes the norm rather than the exception.
We also augmented our systems and processes to become more streamlined and efficient. Standardised
procedures were established for procurement, administration, sales and marketing, as well as finance, for
higher efficiency and effectiveness.
The untiring efforts of the corporate team and staff saw a turnaround in the operations of the company making a
profit of Rs. 19.43 Mn, after provisions for impairment losses recommended by Auditors. Seylan Developments
PLC is now a financially sound entity manned by a highly professional team, fueled by efficient and productive
systems that certainly augurs well for the making of a sustainable organization.

A year to look forward to
As we look forward to a year that will see definite upward momentum for all industry areas in the country,
your company will play a significant role in creating the apt milieu for this ascending curve. We are currently
developing a cluster of bungalows for Seylan Bank PLC, which will be maintained and managed by us. While
we continue to enhance shareholder returns, strengthen relationships with our valued business partners
and nurture a knowledgeable highly skilled team, we will work towards initiatives that will reduce our carbon
footprint and buoy our ambition to win the Energy Award.

Appreciations
Given that we have achieved the results we set out to achieve and are now poised on a firm path to progress,
I am most appreciative to the Chairman and Board of Directors of the Company for giving me the guidance
and leadership to achieve these commendable objectives, while the management and team have been true
partners, supporting me in every endeavour to ensure that we meet those targets. I also extend my thanks
very sincerely to the Chairman and Board of Directors of Seylan Bank PLC, who, with their assistance, gave
your company the necessary impetus to move ahead. Our shareholders' loyalty and confidence have been
extraordinary as was greatly displayed during the Rights Issue and to that, I offer my deepest appreciation and
pledge to ensure that your company will enhance your returns and be consistent in that value addition.

........................................
K. Rathnayaka
Director / Acting General Manager
22nd February 2012.

Seylan Developments PLC - Annual Report 2011 | 7

board of directors
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Director / Acting General Manager
02. Mr. M. K. MUTHUKUMAR
Director
03. Dr. P. MERVYN GUNASEKERA
Director
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04. Mr. R. NADARAJAH
Chairman
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05. Mr. S. PALIHAWADANA
Deputy Chairman
06. Mr. P. SARAVANAPAVAN
Director
07. Mr. H. L. GUNASEKARA
Director (Not in the Picture Since Resigned)

Directors’ Profile
Mr. R. NADARAJAH
Chairman
BSc (Hons), M B A, FCIB (London)
Appointed as Director of Seylan Developments PLC on 11th September, 2009. Mr.Ramanathan Nadarajah
brings with him 42 years of banking experience in both state and private sector banks. He is currently an
Executive Director, Seylan Bank PLC. He served as Managing Director/General Manager/CEO of Pan Asia
Bank for six years and previously served at Bank of Ceylon in various capacities ending as Deputy General
Manager. He was the inaugural President of the Primary Dealers Association of Sri Lanka and has been a
Past President of the Association of Professional Bankers of Sri Lanka. He also served in the Board of Building
Materials Corporation and MB Financial Services Limited. He is also Director of The Finance Co. PLC.

MR. S. PALIHAWADANA
Deputy Chairman (with effect from 17th February 2012)
BSc (Colombo), AIB (Part 1)
Appointed as a Director of Seylan Developments PLC on 11th September 2009. Mr. Palihawadana joined
Seylan Bank in 1999 as Chief Manager/Chief Dealer. He is the overall in-charge of Treasury Dealing activities
of Seylan Bank PLC. He has held Positions as Assistant General Manager/Chief Dealer. At present he holds
the positions as Deputy General Manager/ Chief Dealer, Head of Primary Dealer Unit and Gold Investment
Unit. He counts over 38 years experience in the banking industry out of which 28 years experience in Treasury
Dealing activities including service at Bank of Ceylon, Colombo and London Branches. He is a Senior Member
of Sri Lanka Forex Association.

MR. H. L. GUNASEKARA
Director
(Resigned with effect from 21st January 2012)
Mr. Hiran Lal Gunasekara was appointed to the Board in the year 2006. His contribution to the Ceylinco Group
counts over 25 years of broad based experience out of which 15 years has been at a Senior Management
position. His expertise in Strategic Management, Operational Management & Administration is farfetched and
is complemented by his proven success in managing and directing organizations.
Having been responsible for the revival of collapsed Panadura Finance & Enterprises, now known as The
Standard Credit Lanka Ltd which was formerly known as Ceylinco Investments & Realty Ltd. Mr. Gunasekara
is a veteran in the financial sector. He held the position of Chief Executive Director/CEO at this organization
prior to the management of the company was vested with MBSL Bank and then with Entrust Ltd. In addition he
is also a Director of Ceylinco Limited which is a property development company.

MR. K. RATHNAYAKA
Director / Acting General Manager
B.Sc. Eng.(Hons), AMIE (SL)
Mr. Kapila Rathnayaka is a Civil Engineer and has graduated from University of Peradeniya. Mr. Rathnayaka
brings with his experience in managing properties and projects.
Mr. Rathnayaka is the Assistant General Manager, Premises & Maintenance Department at Seylan Bank PLC.
Mr. Rathnayaka is an associate member of the Institute of Engineers Sri Lanka.
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Directors’ Profile (Contd.)
Mr. P. SaravaNAPAvan
Director
B.Sc. FCA.
Appointed as a Director of Seylan Developments PLC, from 3rd February 2011. Mr. Saravanapavan brings
in more than 30 years experience in the financial and banking sectors. He served as an Accountant at LB
Finance for almost five years. He served at Bank of Ceylon in various capacities for seventeen years including
Financial Accountant. He served in an overseas Bank in Cayman Islands as Manager Administration & Finance
for five years. On his return to the island, he served at Seylan Bank PLC, as Chief Manager Finance for six
years before retiring in 2006. He is a senior lecturer at the Institute of Bankers Sri Lanka, coaching students
for the Diploma course in Banking and the Diploma course in Credit Administration.
Mr. Saravanapavan is a Fellow Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka and holds a
Bachelor of Science degree from University of Ceylon.

Dr. P. Mervyn Gunasekera
Director
B. Sc(Eng)., MSc. (Const. Mgt)., PhD., CEng., FIE (SL)., FICE(UK)., FNAS(SL)., MASCE., CCE., Int, PE(SL).
Dr. Mervyn Gunasekera is the Managing Director of LAN Management Development Service. He also serves
as the Chairperson of Union Chemicals Lanka PLC.
Starting as a Civil Engineering graduate of the University of Ceylon, he later obtained his Masters degree
in Construction Management from Loughborough University of Technology, UK and thereafter he obtained
a Ph.D in Business Administration from the Postgraduate Institute of Management of University of Sri
Jayawardenepura.
A Fellow of the Institution of Engineers Sri Lanka, a Fellow of the Institution of Civil Engineers UK and a Fellow
of the National Academy of Sciences Sri Lanka, he served as the President of The Institution of Engineers,
Sri Lanka in 2000/2001. He is currently the President of The Institute of Project Managers, Sri Lanka and was
the President of the Sri Lanka branch of the Institution of Fire Engineers, (UK), the Association of Consulting
Engineers Sri Lanka and the Federation of Engineering Institutions of South and Central Asia, as its President
from 2000 to 2003 – he was the first and only Sri Lankan to be elected to that post. Dr. Mervyn Gunasekera
was recognized with award of Eminence in Engineering by the Institution of Engineers Sri Lanka, the highest
award an Engineer in Sri Lanka could be accorded.
He served as a visiting lecturer in the Universities of Peradeniya, Moratuwa, Sri Jayawardenepura and Kelaniya
and other major academic Institutions such as The Institution of Engineers Sri Lanka, Sir John Kotelawala
Defence Academy, The Postgraduate Institute of Management and the Institute for Construction Training and
Development.

MR. M. K. MUTHUKUMAR
Director
Attorney at Law
(Appointed with effect from 17th February 2012)
He is an Attorney at Law with 35 years experience. Of that 20 years in Banking Sector. He was the Chief Legal
Officer of the Bank of Ceylon 2010/2011 and Chief Examiner in Law Subjects at the exams conducted by the
Institute of Bankers untill 2011. He was a Lecturer at the Training Institute of the Central Bank, upto 2010 and
Lecturer at the Institute of Advanced Legal Studies, Sri Lanka Law College.
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Management Discussion & Financial review
Management Changes
During the year two new Independent and Non-Executive Directors were appointed who are specialized in
fields of Finance and Engineering namely Mr. P Saravanapavan, qualified Chartered Accountant and
Dr. P. M. Gunasekera a qualified Civil Engineer. Three Directors namely Mr. S. R. Wijesinghe, Mr. C Kotigala
and Mr. V. R. de Silva resigned bringing the total number of Directors to 6 as at 31.12. 2011. Mr. H.L. Gunasekara
intimated his desire to resign during January 2012.

Future Plans
The stable political environment and easing of Central Bank regulations with regard to inward and outward
remittances has resulted in the expatriate community re-emerging which has created a demand in the property
segment for both selling and renting markets. The demand for luxury condominiums / property resulted in
property developers entering the market once again to construct luxury condominiums.
The boom in the countries economy has opened doors to new businesses. The setting up of new foreign
business has resulted in foreigners seeking residential living. This is set to create must awaited demand in
the renting market. The Company is evaluating the best option either to develop the Union Place property or
to dispose to realize cash flows for better investment. The company is also evaluating options to purchase
properties in selected towns in the outstations to develop as Holiday Bungalows for renting to staff members
of the Parent Company.

Finance Review
The Company had a challenging financial year in 2011 due to high gearing and adverse performance recorded
in previous years. The Company successfully faced the challenging situation with a good performance,
recording a profit after tax of Rs.19.4 million which is a 170% growth compared to the previous financial year
loss of Rs. 27.7 million despite high provisions for Corporate Guarantee and impairment loss provision made
against investments in projects amounting to 132 million. This success was mainly attributed to the rights issue
made in June 2011 and reduction in the borrowings of the company.
The Company’s total revenue for the year under review was Rs. 148 million, which is a 3.7% growth from
previous financial year. The Company’s revenue is derived from leasing space at the Seylan Towers and the
occupancy for the year end was 100%. The occupancy of East Tower comprises of local tenants where as the
West Tower comprises of all non resident tenants.
Net Finance Expenses for the Company for the year was Rs. 14.1 million, which is a decrease of 83% from the
previous year mainly due to settlements of interest bearing loans and borrowings during the year through a successful
right issue.
The Company was registered under the BOI Act, enjoyed tax holiday period for its business activities. The
Company enjoyed a 7 years tax holiday period which expired in the year 2010 and the profits of the company
is thereafter taxable under the provisions of the Inland Revenue Act.
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Management Discussion & Financial review
(Contd.)
The return on assets increased to 0.40% in 2011, from (0.57%) in the previous year and the return on equity
for the Company was 0.44% for the year which was an increase of 156% from the last year. This is primarily
driven by the increase in income during the year with the decrease of finance cost due to settlement of interest
bearing loans and borrowings.
The Company recorded an EPS (Earnings per Share) of Rs. 0.16 per ordinary share, which is an increase of
153% over the previous year’s LPS (Loss per Share) of Rs. 0.30. The increase in EPS is recorded despite of
increase of number of ordinary shares with the rights issue.
The Company was able to maintain its current ratio at 3.43 : 1 times which was 0.067: 1 times in the financial
year 2010.
Rs. ‘000

Total current assets
Less: Total current liabilities
Working capital surplus / (deficit)
Current ratio (times)

31 Dec 11
204,057
59,545
144,512

31 Dec 10
62,741
940,811
(878,070)

3.43: 1

0.067: 1

Going Forward
Sri Lanka’s growth prospects are increasingly favourable. As such, the Company will strive to capitalize on
the new opportunities available in 2012 to maximize shareholders' wealth. This will include investments in
profitable projects and innovation that will provide sustainable growth in the long run.
Key Risks that the Company has foreseen is the competition from the over supply of property in the market.
The Company will endeavour to manage their key risks and proceed forward.
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RISK Management Report
Introduction
Seylan Developments PLC believes that effective risk management is of primary importance to its success.
Accordingly, Seylan Developments PLC has a comprehensive Risk Management process to monitor, evaluate
and manage the key risks and potential events that could affect the company and its objectives.
Risks arise in all our business activities and cannot be completely eliminated. The risks are affected by a
number of factors, not all of which are within the Company’s control. Managing business risks is considered a
vital task at Seylan Developments PLC and it encourages all staff, not just senior management to get involved
in identifying and mitigating key business risks that may arise in their respective business processes.

Risk Management Process
The risk management process has been developed to ensure an alignment to existing business process. This
process will flow directly into the strategic review, budget review and audit committee review.
The risk management process is outlined in the flow diagram below;

Operational Risk
An operational risk is, as the name suggests, a risk
arising from execution of a company's business

Identify

functions. It is a very broad concept which focuses
on the risks arising from the people, systems and
processes through which a company operates. It also

Risk
Management

Evaluate

Monitor

includes other categories such as fraud risks, human
resources risks, legal & regulatory risks, climate &
weather risks and health & safety risks.
Operational risks are managed by identifying areas
of risk, formulating plans for their management,
promoting best practices, implementing internal

Manage

control and systems, and monitoring compliances etc.
The availability of a Business Continuity Plan ensures
that the operation would continue in the event of a
contingency.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the value of a portfolio, either an investment portfolio or a trading portfolio, will
decrease due to the change in value of the market risk factors. The market risks are created by changes in
macro operating environment related to economic management, political factors and globalization influences
which in turn have an impact on systematic risk factors such as interest rates, inflation and availability of credit
which has a significant direct impact on property business.
Market risks are inherent to our business and due to the nature of the real estate business the term booms
and recessions are two words commonly used in the industry. However having a good mix of fixed income
generating investment properties will reduce the risk to some extent.
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Risk Management Report (Contd.)
Business Risk
A business risk is a circumstance or factor that may have a negative impact on the operation or profitability
of a given company. Sometimes referred to as company risk, a business risk can be the result of internal
conditions, as well as some external factors that may be evident in the wider business community.
A company's risk is composed of financial risk, which is linked to debt, and risk, which is often linked to
economic climate. Since the company is a low geared company, it would pose less financial risk, but it would
be susceptible to business risk or changes in the overall economic climate.
Changes in the supply and demand ration in property market and other factors such as depressing property
values, meeting multiple demands of the tenants, changes to the laws relating to property development and
income tax could adversely affect the profitability and viability of the business.
We are extremely cautious when selecting tenants to our apartments. We enter into a comprehensive and
clear agreement to ensure that communication gaps and disputes are minimized to a great extent. We also
maintain close and meaningful relationships with relevant government and local authorities and institutions.
The main areas of risks applicable to the company have been identified and the likelihood of its occurrence and
the significance of its impact are assessed based on the available information.

Risk

Description

Risk Rating

Mitigating Actions

Operational Risk
Fraud Risk

Human Resources
Risk

The risks that the internal
control weaknesses leading
to corruptions and employee
abusing entrusted power for
private gain leading to misappropriation of assets or
fraudulent financial reports,
have negative impact and risk
on the company.

Low

Segregation of responsibilities
and duties has been
implemented for the critical
functions of the company.
The company has a clear
vision on career development
and succession plans
enabling the company to
retain its employees.

Risk arising from inability to
attract and retain qualified
and experienced staff, drop
in productivity, quality and
increase in human errors.
Moderate
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The company has established
proper internal control
measures to prevent and
detect any deviations from the
system.

Company is having
transparency in Management
actions, effective induction
to the corporate culture and
effective communication
lines are developed in the
Company's culture to develop
a good employee relationship.

Risk Management Report (Contd.)
Legal and Regulatory
Compliance Risk

Climate and Weather
Risk

Law suits against the
company may lead to the risk
of penalties and legal fees,
loss of reputation and loss of
stake holders’ confidence.

Loss or damage caused by
unusual climate conditions,
including drought, heat, flood,
cold, storm, winds and natural
disasters, etc.

Moderate

Moderate

Health and Safety Risk Threats to personal and
health safety of staff, tenants
and general public.

Description

The company has obtained
required insurance coverage
and follows required safety
measures.
The company conducts
proper training programs and
workplace safety practices
timely.

Moderate

Risk

Statutory obligations are
regularly reviewed by the
Management and reported
to the Audit Committee. The
company has obtained and
retained legal consultants, Tax
consultants and secretarial
functions from reputed
companies.

Risk Rating

The company has obtained
insurance policies to well
cover all employees, tenants
and general public from
potential risks.

Mitigating Actions

Market Risks
Liquidity Risk

Credit Risk

Interest Rate Risk

Liquidity risk is the possibility
of the company suffering
a loss due to insufficient
financial resources at
its disposal, to meet its
obligations, as and when they
fall due.
The credit risk of the company
is mainly derived from the rent
receivable from its tenants.
The inflation rates, foreign
currency fluctuations
could affect the company
in recovering the cash
installments from the tenants.
Inflation risk, volatility in
general market interest rates
both in local and foreign
currency will lead to high cost
of borrowings or lower interest
income and as a result the
company would have a direct
impact on its profitability and
share holders wealth.

Low

Moderate

The debt position of the
company is regularly
reviewed by the Management
and actions are taken
accordingly.
• Cash Flow Management.
• Budgeting.
• Funding Arrangements.
Regular monitoring and debt
collection procedures
The company collects three
months rent deposits and one
month security deposits from
the tenants initially, which
can be used to recover any
unpaid rents.
Continue to reduce debt
levels to minimize effect of
rate increases.

Low

Maintain adequate liquidity
by optimizing working capital
Management
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Risk Management Report (Contd.)
Foreign Exchange
Risk

Risk

Forex is the risk that a
company may suffer losses as
a result of adverse exchange
rate movements.

The company has taken
actions to minimize the
foreign exchange risk by
taking rent in advance for
the entire period i.e., at the
date of renewal from foreign
tenants.

Moderate

Description

Risk Rating

Mitigating Actions

High

The Commercial space is
rented to a secured anchor
tenant and for other apartments
also the Company is entered
into agreements.

Business Risk
Risk of depending on
key customers

The loss of any key customers
could have a material impact
on the company’s results.

Company maintains a good
relationship
with
existing
customers.
Risk of depending on
key suppliers

Project Management
Risk

The Company may need
to do maintenance and
replacements for machinery
and other heavy equipments.

Risk of not having a proper
Project Risk Management
methods and disciplines to
improve your chances of
completing projects on time,
within budget and to meet the
users' requirements.
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High

Moderate

The company maintains good
relationships with its suppliers
and takes action to engage into
comprehensive agreements
with its main suppliers and
agents.
Company has a proper project
Management
team
with
qualified individuals in the
areas required such as finance
and engineering etc.

Corporate Governance Report
STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board of Directors of Seylan Developments PLC is committed in achieving and maintaining a high standard
of Governance to ensure greater transparency in Management, enhance shareholders value, maintain investor
trust, whilst being committed to the well being of employees. In doing so the Board has given its highest
priority to a strong framework of Corporate Governance. This would not only ensure a transparent and a good
governance system but also leads towards enhancing profitability and sustainability.
Transparency, accountability, integrity and high business ethics are the core conducts by which the Corporate
Governance mechanism is formulated in order to effectively direct and govern the Company.
The Company adopts the Code of Best Practices, jointly issued by The Securities & Exchange Commission
and The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka, Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange and
also complies with the Country’s Legislative and Regulatory requirements.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and attendance at meetings
As at 31st December 2011, the Board of Directors of the Company consisted of 6 members and they are
professionals in varied fields such as Engineering, Marketing and Finance. The Board consists of a mix of
Executive and Non-Executive members. Five out of six Directors are Non-Executives.
Two new Directors were appointed to the Board and three Directors resigned from the Board during the year,
bringing the total number of Directors to six. The names and the profiles of the Directors are given on pages
10 to 11.
The Board meets once a month to discuss at length the activities of the organization, past performance and
the future prospects. During the year under review, the Board met on thirteen occasions and the details of
attendance at the meetings are as follows:
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Attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings held during the year
Category

Eligible to
attend

Attended

Mr. R. Nadarajah (Chairman)

Non - Executive

13

13

Mr. H. L. Gunasekara

Non - Executive

13

0

Mr. S. Palihawadana

Non - Executive

13

13

Mr. C. Kotigala
(Resigned on 23rd August 2011)

Non - Executive

10

5

Executive

13

13

Mr. P. Saravanapavan
(Appointed on 3rd February 2011)

Independent Non - Executive

11

10

Dr. P. Mervyn Gunasekera
(Appointed on 8th March 2011)

Independent Non - Executive

9

7

Executive

5

1

Non - Executive

5

4

Name of the Director

Mr. K. Rathnayaka

Mr. S. R. Wijesinghe
(Resigned 22nd March 2011)
Mr. V. R. De Silva
(Resigned 1st April 2011)

The Board conducts its meetings in a manner that the Board is in control of the affairs of the Company and
remains sensitive to the obligations of all its stakeholders. The Board ensures that there is a participation of
all Directors in their deliberations.

Role and Responsibility of the Board
Corporate governance refer to the way that Board oversees the running of the company by its Managers,
and how Board members are held accountable to shareholders and the company. The Board of Directors are
responsible for company affairs not only towards its shareholders but also towards employees, customers,
those financing the company, and other stake holders, including the communities in which the business
operates.
The Board of Directors has the ultimate decision making authority and responsibility, for directing and controlling
the affairs of the company, providing effective and efficient management. Thereby, its functions include
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, review of the management and operational information,
adoption of annual and interim accounts before they are published, review of exposure to key business risks,
strategic direction of operational and management units, approval of annual budgets, monitoring progress
towards achieving those budgets and sanctioning major capital expenditure and acquisition of assets. The
Board approves polices that direct operational management and delegate the necessary authority to staff, so
they can fulfill their job responsibilities.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The Chairman is a Non – Executive member of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer is an Executive
Director enabling the Board to have a clear segregation of duties between the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer.

Chairman’s Role
The Chairman conducts Board Meetings and ensures that the participation and contribution of Executive and
Non Executive Directors are encouraged and their view on matters under consideration is determined.
As Chairman, he is responsible for,
•

Ensuring that the principles and processes of the Board are maintained, including the provision of accurate,
timely and clear information.

•

Encouraging debate and constructive criticism.

•

Setting agendas for meetings of the Board, in conjunction with the heads of the divisions and the Company
Secretary that focus on the strategic direction and performance of our business.

•

Leading the Board and individual Director Performance assessment.

•

Speaking and acting for the Board and representing the Board to shareholders.

•

Presenting shareholders view to the Board.

•

Facilitating the relationship between the Board and the Management.

The Board consider that none of his other commitments interfere with the discharge of his responsibilities to
the company. The Board is satisfied that he makes sufficient time available to serve the company effectively.

Financial Acumen
The Board includes a Chartered Accountant and several members who have served in the banking and financial
sectors, who possess the necessary acumen and knowledge to offer the Board guidance on matters of finance.
The Board of Directors brings a wide range of local and international expertise needed for the overall direction,
strategies and achievement of financial objectives of the Company. The Board places great emphasis on
complete disclosure of both financial and non financial information within the bounds of Commercial Reality
and adoption and compliance with sound reporting practices. Financial Information is disclosed in accordance
with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.

Board Balance and Independence
As at 31st December 2011, all are Non-Executive Directors except one Director appointed as Acting General
Manager who performs an executive role in the Company as its Chief Executive Officer. The Non-Executive
Directors include two Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Directors act free of any business or other
relationship with the Company that could materially interfere with their ability to exercise unfettered and
independent judgement other than being on the Seylan Bank Board or Key Management Personnel of Seylan
Bank PLC. Each Director has a continuing responsibility to determine whether he or she has a potential
or actual conflict arising from any external involvements or interests, other than being the Directors or Key
Managerial Personnel of Seylan Bank PLC.
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The Board is of the collective opinion that the majority of Directors are Non-Executive and independent of the
management of the Company and free from any business or other relationship that could materially interfere
in the exercise of their judgment.
Two Non - Executive Directors represent Seylan Bank PLC, as at 31st December 2011.

Supply of Information to the Board
The Board meets monthly and the Board is supplied all information including the following.
•

Monthly Financial Statements reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors.

•

Quarterly Financial Statements reviewed and recommended by the Audit Committee and approved by the
Board of Directors before publication.

•

Minutes of the previous Board meeting and follow-up action.

•

Recommendation of capital expenditure and its justifications.

•

Annual business plan.

•

Any other matters of importance.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises 3 Non Executive Directors as at 31st December 2011.

Members
Mr. S. Palihawadana – Chairman
Mr. P. Saravanapavan
Mr. R. Nadarajah
Mr. C. Kotigala (Resigned on 23rd August 2011)
The Committee also provides oversight on the qualifications of all nominees to the Board of Directors as well
as appointments to other company positions requiring Board approval.
In case of a vacancy or vacancies in the Board, the Nomination Committee seeks qualified nominees and
recommends them to the Board for appointment.

Re-Election
In terms of the provisions of Articles of Association, one fourth of the Directors, excluding the Chairman and
Deputy Chairman retires and submits them for re-election at every Annual General Meeting. The retirement of
each Director is determined according to those who have served the longest period of time in office, since their
appointment or reappointment, as the case may be.
The articles also provide that newly appointed Directors, whether they are appointed to fill a casual vacancy
or to serve as an additional Director, can hold office only until the Annual General Meeting of the company
following such an appointment, after which they must seek re-election.
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The re-election of a Director safeguards the right of the shareholders by providing a regular reassessment
of the composition of the Board. The names of the Directors submitted for re-election are provided to the
shareholders along with notice of the Annual General Meeting, enabling them to make informed decisions on
such appointments.

Appraisal of Chief Executive Officer
The performance of the Chief Executive Officer as the one person who is responsible for the whole organization
is evaluated by the Board on his meeting the company's short and medium term targets and his capability of
meeting the future targets.

Disclosure of Information in Respect of Directors
Detailed profiles in respect of the Directors are disclosed in pages 10 and 11 in this report.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three Non Executive Directors as at 31st December 2011.

Members
Dr. P. Mervyn Gunasekera – Chairman
Mr. S. Palihawadana
Mr. P. Saravanapavan
Mr. C. Kotigala (Resigned on 23rd August 2011)
The Committee is responsible towards the formulation and establishment of remuneration policies, including
reviewing, approving and recommending to the Board the remuneration of Directors, Chief Executive Officer
and other individuals who hold key positions in the Senior Management sector of the Company.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that the levels of remuneration are adequate to attract, retain and
motivate the Senior Management so that the highest caliber of work may be expected and commensurate with
each individual’s performance and contribution to the Company.
The Report of the Remuneration Committee and the policy appears on page 36.

Disclosure of Directors’ Remunerations
As at 31st December 2011, all Directors of the Company except one Director are Non Executive Directors and
therefore they receive a fee for participating at Board Meetings and other committee meetings and do not
receive any other perquisite or benefit other than what is discussed in Note 26 in the Financial Statements.
The Executive Director receives an allowance for his contribution to the Company and a fee for participating
for Board meetings and other committee meetings and they are included under short term employee benefits
in Note 26.
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SHAREHOLDERs RELATIONS
Constructive Use of the Annual General Meetings (AGM) and conduct of General Meetings
The Board strives to enhance shareholders value and protect the legitimate interests of all its shareholders.
The Board of Directors gives adequate notice to all its shareholders under the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007
of its Annual General Meeting and presents them with an Annual Report at the time of such notice. Active
participation of its shareholders is welcome where all relevant questions are answered by the Board of Directors.

Major transactions
All material and price sensitive information about the Company is promptly communicated to the Colombo
Stock Exchange, and released to the press and shareholders. The Holding Company Seylan Bank PLC also
publishes consolidated financial information on quarterly basis.
In June 2011, the Company raised funds through a successful one for one Rights Issue and settled all its
borrowings.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting
The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and each year the company has an Annual General
Meeting (AGM), at which the Directors must provide a report to shareholders on the performance of the
company, what its future plans and strategies are. The Board pays great attention to the adoption of sound
and accurate reporting practices ensuring that an honest and balanced assessment is presented at all times.
The statement of Director’s responsibilities for the Financial Statements is given on page 57.

Internal Controls
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the Company’s system of internal control and for reviewing
the effectiveness. The Board has established the tone from the top and ensures that importance of internal
controls is understood and correct resource allocations are made.
Internal control activities include a comprehensive list of policies and procedures which ensure that the
management directives are carried out and necessary actions is taken to minimize the risk of failing to meet
objectives. The Policies and procedures are established for the organization and continuously reviewed for
adequacy and improvement. The framework is designed to provide reasonable assurance of;
•

Efficiency and effectiveness of operations.

•

Reliability of financial and other management information.

•

Prevention of fraud.

•

Compliance with relevant national laws and company regulations.
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The Board has delegated the process of reviewing the effectiveness of the internal controls to the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee whose functions are described in the Corporate Governance Statements,
met twice during the year 2011. The External Auditors attended all Audit Committee meetings.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of two members who are considered Non-Executive directors, one of them is a
qualified Chartered Accountant, having extensive experience in the field of finance.

Members
Mr. P. Saravanapavan – Chairman
Mr. S. Palihawadana
Mr. C. Kotigala (Resigned on 23rd August 2011)
The appointed members are required to exercise independent judgement in carrying out their functions.
The committee is responsible for;
•

Review and monitor the integrity of the Financial Statements, financial reporting, information databases
and audit process.

•

Review and monitor IT Governance activities.

•

Review and monitor the performance of the internal audit and information system audit functions of the
company.

•

Review and monitor the system of internal control.

•

Review and monitor the effectiveness and efficiency IT /IS controls pertaining to IT operations, technologies,
systems, structures and processes.

•

Review and monitor IT assets are safeguarded in terms of integrity, confidentiality and availability and
effective IT risk management measures are in place.

•

Review and monitor IT investment, project proposals for their efficiency and effectiveness & security and
controls systems inbuilt into project System Development Life Cycle (SDLC) process.

•

Review and monitor the system for approval and monitoring of expenditure including capital expenditure.

•

Review and monitor the statutory and regulatory compliance process.

•

Review and monitor the implementation of Board decisions by the Management.

•

Approve the annual internal audit and information system audit plans.

The Audit Committee held two Meetings during the financial year of 2011. The report of the Audit Committee
appears on Pages 34 to 35.

Seylan Developments PLC - Annual Report 2011 | 25

Corporate Governance Report (Contd.)
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
Although there is no written code of conduct of the Directors, they are conscious of the duties required of them.
Wherever there are transactions with connected companies such transactions are disclosed under the related
party transactions. The Company is compliant with the Code of Best Practice on Corporate Governance jointly
issued by the SEC and ICASL.

Corporate Governance Disclosure
The Company has been publishing quarterly Financial Statements with the necessary explanatory notes as
required by the Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange and the Securities and Exchange Commission of Sri
Lanka to all stakeholders. Any other financial and non-financial information, which is price sensitive or warrants
the shareholders' and other stakeholders’ attention and consideration, is promptly disclosed to the public.

Compliance with the Colombo Stock Exchange Rules on Corporate Governance
Levels of Compliance with the CSE’s Listing Rules Section 07 – Rules on Corporate Governance are given in
the following table.

Rule No.

Subject

Applicable Requirement

Compliance
Status

Details

7.10.1(a)

Non-Executive
Directors

At least one-third of the total
Complied.
number of Directors should be
Non-Executive Directors.

Refer on page 21.

7.10.2 (a)

Independent
Directors

Two or one-third of Non- Complied.
Executive Directors, whichever
is higher should be independent

Refer on page 21.

7.10.2 (b)

Independent
Directors

Each Non-Executive
Director should submit a
declaration of independence
/ non-independence in the
prescribed format

Complied.

Refer Annual Report of
the Board on the state of
Affairs of the Company on
page 51.

7.10.3 (a)

Disclosure
relating to
Directors

The Board shall annually
make a determination as
to the independence of the
Non-Executive Directors
and names of independent
Directors should be disclosed
in the Annual Report.

Complied.

Refer on page 20.

7.10.3 (b)

Disclosure
relating to
Directors

The basis for the Board
to determine a Director
is independent, if criteria
specified for independence is
not met

Complied.

Refer on page 21.
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Rule No.

Subject

Applicable Requirement

Compliance
Status

Details

7.10.3 ( c)

Disclosure
relating to
Directors

A brief resume of each
Complied.
Director should be included in
the Annual Report and should
include the Director’s areas of
expertise

7.10.3 (d)

Disclosure
relating to
Directors

Forthwith provide a brief
resume of new Directors
appointed to the Board with
details specified in 7.10.3(a),
(b) and (c) to the rules of the
Colombo Stock Exchange.

7.10.5

Remuneration
Committee

A listed Company shall have a Complied.
Remuneration Committee.

7.10.5 (a)

Composition of
Remuneration
Committee

Shall comprise Non-Executive Complied.
Directors, at which a majority
of whom shall be independent.

Refer on page 36.

7.10.5 (b)

Function of
Remuneration
Committee.

The Remuneration Committee Complied.
shall recommend the
remuneration of the Chief
Executive Officer and
Executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee
report on page 36 of
this Report which set
out the functions of the
Committee.

7.10.5 (c)

Disclosure in
the Annual
Report relating
to Remuneration
Committee.

The Annual Report should set Complied.
out;

7.10.6

Audit
Committee.

Complied

Refer Directors’ Profile
on page 10 to 11.

A brief resume of
new directors and the
appointments were
submitted to the Colombo
Stock Exchange when
such appointments were
made.
Refer on page 36.

a. Names of Directors
comprising the Remuneration
Committee.

Refer on page 36.

b. Statement of remuneration
policy.

Refer on page 36.

c. Aggregate remuneration
paid to Executive & Non
Executive Directors.
The Company shall have an Complied.
Audit Committee.

Refer Directors’
emoluments on page 76.
Names of the members of
the Audit Committee are
stated on pages 34 to 35.

Seylan Developments PLC - Annual Report 2011 | 27

Corporate Governance Report (Contd.)
Rule No.
7.10.6 (a)

Subject
Composition
of Audit
Committee.

Applicable Requirement

Compliance
Status

Audit
Shall comprise of NonExecutive Directors, a majority Committee
of who shall be independent. consists of two
non-executive
Directors one
Director is
independent.
A Non Executive Director shall Complied.
be appointed as the Chairman
of the Committee Meetings.
Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer should
attend Audit Committee
Meetings.

7.10.6 (b)

Details

Will be rectified
shortly.

The Chairman of the Audit
Complied.
Committee or one member
should be a member of a
professional accounting body.
Audit Committee Functions shall include;
Complied.
Functions
a. Overseeing of the
preparation, presentation
and adequacy of disclosures
in the Financial Statements
in accordance with Sri Lanka
Accounting Standards.
b. Overseeing of the
compliance with financial
requirements, information
requirements of the
Companies Act and other
relevant financial reporting
related regulations and
requirements.

Chairman of the
Audit Committee is
an Independent NonExecutive Director.

Chairman of the
Audit Committee is a
qualified
Chartered Accountant.
Refer on pages 34 to 35
for the functions of Audit
Committee.

Complied.

Refer on pages 34 to 35
for the functions of Audit
Committee.

c. Overseeing the process
Complied.
to ensure that the internal
controls and risk management
processes are adequate to
meet the requirements of the
Sri Lanka Auditing Standards.

Refer on pages 34 to 35
for the functions of Audit
Committee.

d. Assessment of the
independence and
performance of the external
Auditors.

Complied.

Refer on pages 34 to 35
for the functions of Audit
Committee.

e. Make recommendations
Complied.
to the Board pertaining to
appointment, re appointment
and removal of external
Auditors, and approve the fees
and terms of engagement of
the external Auditors.

Refer on pages 34 to 35
for the functions of Audit
Committee.
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Rule No.
7.10.6 (c)

Subject

Compliance
Status

Applicable Requirement

Disclosure in the a. Names of Directors
Annual Report
comprising the Audit
relating to Audit Committee.
Committee.
b. The Audit Committee shall
make a determination of the
independence of the Auditors
and disclose the basis for
such determinations.
c. The Annual Report shall
contain a Report of the Audit
Committee setting out the
manner of compliance with
their functions.

Details

Complied.

Refer on pages 34 to 35
for the functions of Audit
Committee.

Complied.

Refer on pages 34 to 35
for the functions of Audit
Committee.

Complied.

Refer on pages 34 to 35
for the functions of Audit
Committee.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF BEST PRACTICE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ISUED
JOINTLY BY THE SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISION OF SRI LANKA (SEC) AND THE INSTITUTE
OF CHARTERED ACOUNTANTS OF SRI LANKA (ICASL)

A. Annual Report
Subject & Ref.

Corporate Governance Principle

Level of Compliance

Chairman & CEO A.2.1 &
A.5.6

If Chairman and CEO is one and the same
person, the name of the Chairman/CEO and
Senior Independent Director appointed and
justification of the decision to combine the
positions.

As outlined earlier, the positions
of the Chairman and the CEO
have been separated on pages
10 to 11.

Board Balance A.5.5

Should identify the independent NonExecutive Directors.

The Board maintains the correct
balance of Executive and NonExecutive Directors. Five of the
Six Directors on the Board are
Non-Executive Directors. And
two of the five Non-Executive
Directors are Independent.

Nominations Committee
A.7.1

The Chairman and members of the
Nomination Committee should be identified.

Complied
Refer Page 22.

Appointment of New
Directors A.7.3

When new Directors are appointed, the
following details should be disclosed.

Complied

• A brief résumé of each Director;
• The nature of his expertise in the relevant
functional areas;
• The names of Companies in which
the Director holds Directorships or
memberships in Board committees; and
• Whether such Director can be considered
independent.

Disclosure of details as required
of new appointments to the
Board was informed to the
Colombo Stock Exchange and
also in the Annual Report.
Profiles of Directors are given
on pages 10 to 11.
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Subject & Ref.
Appraisal of Board
Performance A.9.3

Corporate Governance Principle
Should disclose how performance and
evaluations have been conducted.

Board Related Disclosures The following details pertaining to each
A.10.1
Director should be disclosed
• Name, qualification and brief profile;
• The nature of his/her expertise in relevant
functional areas;
• Immediate family and/or material business
relationship with other Directors of the
Company;
• Names of other listed Companies in Sri
Lanka in which the Director concerned
serves as a Director;
• Names of Companies in which the Director
concerned serves as a Director and/or the
fact that he/she holds other Directorships in
group Companies;
• Number/percentage of Board meetings of
the Company attended during the year;
• Names of the Committees in which the
Director serves as the Chairman or a
member; and
• Number/percentage of committee meetings
attended during the year.
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Level of Compliance
The Board’s performance for
2011 were evaluated against
the following criteria:
• Developing and monitoring
implementation of strategy;
• Level of business and
financial acumen,
experience and level of
contribution to the Board in
driving business goals and
formulating strategy and
policies;
• Management of relations
with stakeholders including
Employee relations;
• Ensuring effectiveness
of internal control
mechanisms;
• Effectiveness of Board
subcommittees;
• Discharge of statutory and
regulatory duties and other
responsibilities of the Board;
• Corporate governance
compliance:
• Re-visiting Human
Resources and
Procurement policies;
•
Overall view of the
management of the
business.
Complied
Directors’ profiles with their
qualifications, areas of expertise
etc. are given on pages 10 to 11.
Details of directorships/other
positions held, Directors’
interests in contracts and related
party transactions are disclosed
in Notes 26 and 26.1 of the
Financial Statements given on
pages 88 to 89.
Details of Board meetings and
Board sub committees, their
composition, attendance by
Directors of meetings held
during the year are given on
pages 20, 34 and 36.

Corporate Governance Report (Contd.)
Subject & Ref.

Corporate Governance Principle

Level of Compliance

Disclosure of
Remuneration
B.3

• A Statement of Remuneration Policy and
details of Remuneration of the Board as a
whole.

Complied
Refer Remuneration Committee
Report on page 36 and
also Note 9 of the Audited
Financial Statements.

Major transactions
C.2

• All major transactions entered into by the
Company should be disclosed.

Complied

Audit Committee
D.3.4

• Names of the members of the Audit
Committee should be disclosed.
• Basis for determining the independence of
Auditors.

Complied

Code of Business Conduct • Should disclose whether the Company
has a Code of Business Conduct & Ethics
and Ethics D.4.1 & D.4.2
for Directors and members of the Senior
Management team.
• Should also disclose an affirmative
declaration that they have abided by such
Code.
• The Chairman must certify that he/she is
not aware of any violation of any of the
provisions of this Code.
Going Concern
• Should report that the Company is a going
D.1.5
concern, with supporting assumptions and
qualifications as necessary

Refer the Audit Committee
Report on pages 34 to 35.
Will be complied shortly
Refer Page 26.

Complied
Refer Annual Report of the
Board on the state of
Affairs of the Company on
pages 51 to 56.

B. Remuneration Committee Report
Subject & Ref.

Corporate Governance Principle

Members of Remuneration • The names of the members of
Committee B.1.3
Remuneration Committee should be
disclosed in the Remuneration Committee
Report.

Level of Compliance
Complied
Refer the Remuneration
Committee Report on page 36.
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C. Directors’ Report
Subject & Ref.
Directors’ Report D.1.2

Corporate Governance Principle

Level of Compliance

Complied
Should contain the following declarations
made by the Directors,
Refer on pages 51 to 56.
• The Company has not engaged in any
activities, which contravenes laws and
regulations;
• The Directors have declared all material
interests in contracts involving the
Company and refrained from voting on
matters in which they were materially
interested;
• The Company has made all endeavours
to ensure the equitable treatment of
shareholders;
• The business is a going concern with
supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary; and
• They have conducted a review of internal
controls covering financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management
and have obtained reasonable assurance
of their effectiveness and successful
adherence herewith.

D Financial Statements
Subject & Ref.
Financial Statements
D.1.3

Corporate Governance Principle
• The Board of Directors should include
a Statement of Responsibility for the
preparation and presentation of Financial
Statements.
• Auditors should also have a statement
about their reporting responsibility.
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Complied
Refer on page 57.
Refer on page 60.
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E. Management Report
Subject & Ref.
Management Report
D.1.4

Corporate Governance Principle
Should include a Management Discussion
and Analysis Report discussing at least the
following issues:
• industry structure and developments;
• opportunities and threats;
• risks and concerns;
• internal control systems and their
adequacy;
• social and environmental protection
activities carried out by the Company;
• financial performance;
• material developments in human resources/
industrial relations; and
• prospects for the future

Level of Compliance
Complied.
Refer Chairman’s Review on
pages 04 to 05.
Refer Director/Acting General
Manager’s Review on pages 06
to 07.
Refer Management Discussion
and Financial Review on pages
13 to 14.

F. Corporate governance Report
Subject & Ref.
Corporate governance
Report
D.5.1

Corporate Governance Principle
Should disclose the manner and extent to
which the Company has complied with the
principles and provisions of the Code.

Level of Compliance
Complied
Refer on pages 19 to 33.

G. Audit Committee Report
Subject & Ref.
Audit Committee Report
D.3.3

Corporate Governance Principle
Should set out the work carried out by the
Committee.

Level of Compliance
Complied
Refer on pages 34 to 35.
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Composition:
The Board of Director’s, appointed Mr. P. Saravanapavan , as an Independent, Non-Executive Director as
Chairman of the Audit Committee during the financial year. He is a Fellow member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Sri Lanka, and carries over 27 years experience in the banking sector locally and overseas.
The other Non-Executive members of the committee were Mr. C. Kotigala & Mr. S. Palihawadana. Mr. C.
Kotigala resigned from the Board of Directors during the Year effective from 23rd August 2011. The External
Auditors attended the Audit Committee meetings by invitation.

Meetings:
During the year under review the Committee met twice. Unfortunately Mr. C. Kotigala did not attend the
meetings due to his engagements, nevertheless he was briefed about the proceedings. The attendance of the
other members at these meetings is as follows.
P. Saravanapavan (Chairman)

2/2

S. Palihawadana

2/2

The minutes of the meetings were made available to the Board of Directors for information and necessary
action. The Board of Directors will nominate an Independent Non Executive Director in place of Mr. C. Kotigala
in due course.

Terms of Reference:
The Audit Committee charter approved by the Board in January 2011 was adopted and sets out the terms of
reference governing the Audit Committee. It ensures the composition and activities of the Audit Committee are
in line with International Best Practices, Listing Rule 7.10.6 of the Colombo Stock Exchange and the Code of
Best Practice on Corporate Governance jointly issued by the Securities & Exchange Commission of Sri Lanka
(SEC) and The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL).

Activities and Responsibilities in Financial Reporting:
The Committee reviewed and discussed the financial reporting systems adopted by the company in the
preparation of Quarterly and Annual Financial Statements with the Management & External Auditors to ensure
reliability and consistency of the Accounting policies adopted and its compliance with the Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards and the provisions of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007.
The Committee reviewed the Non-Audited Quarterly Interim Financial Statements for the 2nd and 3rd quarter and
the year end Financial Statements before certification by External Auditors together with supporting information
including significant assumptions and judgements made in the preparation of the Financial Statements.
The committee reviewed the Management Letter issued by the External Auditors and took measures to
implement their recommendations.
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Regulatory Compliance:
Procedures were in place to ensure compliance with statutory regulations. The Committee reviewed the
quarterly compliance reports submitted by relevant officers to ensure that the company has complied with all
statutory requirements.

Internal Audit & Inspection:
Due to an unavoidable delay in obtaining the services of the Internal Audit Division of Seylan Bank PLC to carry
out Internal Audit function, the Board of Directors have decided to engage the services of a professional Audit
firm to carryout Internal Audit function and they will commence work shortly.

External Audit:
The Committee met with the Lead Partner of Messrs KPMG Ford, Rhodes, Thornton & Co during the Audit
Committee meetings and on other occasions by appointment to discuss matters indicated in the Management
Letter, and matters relating to valuations and impairment of investment projects. The Committee also discussed
on the scope and approach of their work to ensure that no limitations are placed in the conduct of the Audit.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors the Messrs KPMG Ford, Rhodes, Thornton
& Co be re-appointed as Auditors of the company for the financial year 31st December 2012, subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Conclusion:
The Audit Committee is satisfied that the accounting policies, operational controls and the risk management
process of the company provides reasonable assurance that the affairs of the company are managed
satisfactorily in financial reporting, statutory & regulatory compliance and safeguarding the assets .

P. Saravanapavan.
Chairman – Audit Committee
8th February 2012.
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The Composition of Remuneration Committee Report
The Remuneration Committee appointed by the Board, comprises 3 Non Executive Directors as at 31st
December 2011. Two of the members are Independent Directors. The members of the Committee are
as follows:
Dr. P. Mervyn Gunasekera – Chairman
Mr. S. Palihawadana
Mr. P. Saravanapavan
Mr. C. Kotigala (Resigned on 23rd August 2011)
The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration Committee meeting during the year is tabulised.
Name of the Director
P. Mervyn Gunasekera
S. Palihawa dana
P. Saravanapavan
C. Kotigala

Eligible to attend
1
1
1
1

Attended
1
1
1
-

Brief profiles of the members are given in pages 10 to 11 of the Annual Report.
The Director/ Acting General Manager of the company is co-opted to the meeting and the Accountant assist
the Committee by providing the relevant information for their decision within the terms of reference approved
by the Board.

Remuneration Policy and functions:
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommending remuneration payable to Key Managerial
Personnel including the Director/Acting general Manager based on established performance parameters. The
Committee is also responsible for establishing guidelines and parameters for the remuneration structure of the
employees for approval of the Board and ensure implementation of the approved policies.
The Committee in fulfilling the above tasks reviews the information relating to remuneration of employees
in other similar establishments to bring payments to be in par with market rates and practices. In this regard
the Committee will determine the basis of revision based on performance and will make recommendation
to the Board of Directors and upon consideration of such recommendations the Board shall make the final
determination.

Dr. P. Mervyn Gunasekera.
Chairman
Remuneration Committee.
8th February 2012.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
“Our approach to sustainability is based on business principles to achieve long-term value
for shareholders and broader stakeholder groups without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs “

1. STRATEGY AND ANALYSIS
Sustainability reporting is the practice of measuring, disclosing, and being accountable to internal and external
stakeholders for organizational performance towards the goal of sustainable development.
Seylan Developments PLC believes “Human Capital to be the driving force that will enable the company to be
rated as the best managed Property Development Company in Sri Lanka”. We strive to create a culture that
respects, accepts and recognizes employee contribution to the success of the organization.
Sustainable development at Seylan Developments PLC is that which meets the needs of the present without
compromising on the ability of future generations.

Description of key impacts, risks and opportunities
When considering sustainability in the company, there are many challenges, opportunities and risks that
necessitate continuous evaluation and analysis. The grid below depicts these findings related to sustainability.

Table 1: Challenges Risk and Opportunities
Triple Bottom
Line
Economic

Challenges

Opportunities

Risks

• Increase cost push
inflationary pressure on
the economy.
• Institutional investors
and large investment
funds are evaluating
their investments through
sustainability.
• Intense competition
arising out of globalization
and increasing FDIs into
Sri Lanka.

• Improved business
climate after the end of
the war.
• Improved FDIs into the
country will drive the
scale of infrastructure
development and
provide a platform for
improved business
activities.

• Cost pressure may result
in businesses being
unable to manage the
set targets with regard
to the sustainability
initiatives.
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Triple Bottom
Line
Environmental

Social

Challenges

Opportunities

Risks

• Managing the objectives
of maximizing business
returns whilst conforming
to growing pressures
prompting the adoption
of sustainability-driven
management practices.
• Increasing legislation
and public policy on
businesses regarding
sustainable use of
resources, emissions and
waste reduction.
• Managing the increasing
demand on existing
resources with the
improving business
climates.

• Explore opportunities
to improve all products
and service related
processes with a view
to embracing cleaner
and efficient production
and service delivery
methodology.
• Improving the
energy cost base and
consumption by eliciting
employee behavioural
change and adopting
greener technologies.

• Increased risk of
environmental
degradation due the
increased consumption
of energy and greater
waste emissions.
• Lack of waste recycling
infrastructure resulting
in greater environmental
pollution.

• Employee retention
with growing
economy resulting
in more employment
opportunities.
• Ensuring protection
of human rights,
decent work practices
for contract workers
employed ensuring strict
conformance to all labour
legislations.
• Ensuring the health &
safety of employees at
the workplace.

• Improving employment
opportunities through
structured training.

• The extensive expansion
plans and the boom
in certain industries
and social and cultural
aspects with the
community, increases
social risk.

2. ORGANIZATIONAL PROFILE
Seylan Developments PLC is a Public Limited Liability Company incorporated in Sri Lanka and listed on
Colombo Stock Exchange, Sri Lanka. Seylan Developments PLC is a subsidiary of Seylan Bank PLC. The
Company engages in the development, administration, maintenance, and lease of properties. It focuses on
property development projects, such as housing projects and shopping complexes. The company leases office
spaces and luxury apartments..
Seylan Developments PLC has consistently adopted a strategic approach to sustainability where business
and sustainability strategies are intrinsically aligned. The Company ensures that sustainable development
is featured at a strategic level, supported by leadership and envisioning, whilst also integrated into all parts
of its operational plan. Seylan Developments PLC’s business strategy has and continues to pivot on the end
achievement of national priorities. The Company strives to contribute towards the national agenda and meet
national objectives through the effective implementation of its own business strategy. Thus, it fully appreciates
that to achieve the greatest long-term benefit the Company must consistently devise its own unique approach
and business case for sustainability.
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Scale of Operations
As at 31st December 2011, the total asset of the Company was Rs. 4,801.91 Mn and the total equity of the
Company is Rs. 4,419.67 Mn. During the year under review the Company recorded a turnover and profit after
tax of Rs. 231.23 Mn and Rs. 19.43 Mn respectively.
Any questions or comments about this Sustainability Report should be directed to the Director / Acting General
Manager of Seylan Developments PLC, Mr. K Rathnayaka on Telephone No. 011 2456555.

3. REPORT PARAMETERS
Report Framework and frequency
As in the previous year, the Company’s Sustainability Report has been developed based on the Sustainability
Reporting Framework proposed by Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).
This Report covers the activities of Seylan Developments PLC for the period from 1st January 2011 to 31st
December 2011. We analyze the business and financial activities of the institution and provide detailed
information on the performance during the year. The previous Sustainability Report covered the financial year
of 2010.

Scope
Sustainability Reporting serves as a window into the performance of the Company across economic, social
and environmental dimensions, primarily as the Company’ sustainability strategy is in full alignment with its
core business strategy. As such, this Sustainability Report has been developed within the context of the
Company’s overall business strategy, with due consideration of sustainability-related risks and opportunities.

4. COMMITMENTS AND ENGAGEMENTS
Stakeholder Inclusiveness
Sustainability Reporting affords the Company means to communicate and engage with its stakeholders. Given
the disparate nature and interests of various stakeholders, the Company is compelled to strategically define
its key stakeholder audience to ensure materiality in engagement and reporting. Thus, the Company defines
its key stakeholders as customers, employees, investors, suppliers, government, legal & regulatory bodies
and society. Through stakeholder inclusiveness and engagement, the Company objectively aims to achieve a
conclusive, positive outcome for each of the identified stakeholders.

Sustainability Content
This Report presents the Company’s performance in the wider context of sustainability, providing an insight
into the Company’s contribution towards the enhancement of economic, environmental and social conditions
within which it operates.
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Defining the Report Quality
This Report endeavours to present an unbiased presentation of the Company’s performance by reflecting
positive and negative aspects of the Company’s performance to enable a reasonable assessment of overall
performance.
As far as possible, the Report provides accurate information in a manner that is understandable and accessible
to its readers.

Stakeholder Engagement
Our intention is to put in place a progressive plan around each of social, environmental, and economic factors,
thereby enhancing our capabilities through incremental improvements. We intend to track our progress by
putting in place a structured process of stakeholder engagement and through the measurement of our impacts.
The concept of sustainable development has flowed freely from within the Company. It has helped us
understand ourselves and our world. The problems we face are complex and serious; therefore, in good
foresight we realize that we cannot address them in the same way they were created. But we certainly continue
to address them as seen here below
Table 2 - Stakeholder categorization and current engagement at Seylan Developments PLC

Stakeholder

Customers
(Individual,
corporate)

Why they are our key
stakeholders and the
importance of engaging
with them
They are the reason we
are in business. We exist
to serve them.
By engaging with our
customers we can
receive honest feedback
which in turn will help
us to identify any areas
of business that needs
to improve and it will
also assist in building
customer loyalty.

Current level of
engagement
• Personal
meetings/
Discussion
forums
• Field visits,
• Progress
reviews,
• Business
development
activities.
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Key Issues

• Product
quality
• Service
standards
• Price
• Sustainable
practices
• Product
innovation

How we respond to
these issues
• Providing tenants
with the highest
standards in office
space combined
with value added
services at a
reasonable price.
Eg: The year saw
the addition of
a high standard
gym for use of our
tenants.
• Our highly
professional and
qualified staff
will continue to
improve features
and facilities within
the building to
ensure that tenants
would have an
environment that
is unmatched
and maintain our
reputation.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT (Contd.)
Stakeholder

Why they are our key
stakeholders and the
importance of engaging
with them

Current level of
engagement

Key Issues

How we respond to
these issues

• Quality.
• High Cost.
• Delay in
supplying
goods.

• Sample testing.
• Purchase based on
quotations.
• Price negotiations.
• Proper inventory.
• Management
system.

• Direct reporting.
• Open door
policy at all
management
levels.

• Employee
Development.
• Health &
Safety.
• Organizational
ethics.

• Policies, processes
and systems
are in place to
ensure effective
recruitment,
development
and retention as
the Company
is committed to
hiring, developing
and promoting
individuals
who possess
the required
competencies, skills
and experience in
carrying out their
duties and have the
potential for growth
• Employee Welfare.
• Staff Insurance.
• Staff Loans.
• Fixed Medical
Allowances.

• Annual General
Meeting.
• Distribute
quarterly
financial reports
that provide
timely feedback
on our financial
performance.
• Website with
frequent updates.

• Investor
returns.
• Strong
governance.
• Risk
Management.

• The Company
recorded an EPS
of Rs. 0.16 per
ordinary share,
which is an
increase of 153%
over the previous
year’s LPS of Rs.
0.30.

Supplier

A great supplier base
important to deliver
excellent products and
services to customers.

•
•
•
•

Employees

They are the foundation
that our business is built
on.
Employee engagement
will help to retain and
motivate our employees.

Investors /
Shareholders

Shareholder
engagement is important
for us to have access to
growth capital.

Phone calls.
Meetings.
E mail.
Field visits.
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Stakeholder

Why they are our key
stakeholders and the
importance of engaging
with them

Government,
Legal &
Regulatory
Bodies

Society /
Pressure
groups /
Media

Current level of
engagement

Key Issues

It sets rules and laws
that help to wellbeing of
the society and people to
live together.

• Meetings.
• Representation
through
associations.
• Phone calls.
• Circulars and
association.

• Penalties,
Legal Fees
• Loss of
reputation
• Loss of
shareholder
confidence.

• Continuously
discuss regulations
with knowledgeable
parties.
• Conduct
compliance review
at group and
business levels
quarterly to ensure
that all business
units adhere to
legal and statutory
requirements.

We are affected by the
environment we operate
in.

• Correspondence.
• Discussions.
• Media coverage.

• Waste
• Use of
materials
obtained from
sustainable
sources
• Resource
consumption.

• Implementing
initiatives to reduce
the impact on our
environment.
• SDP promotes
initiatives such
as internal
paper recycling,
employing energy
saving lighting,
minimizing
unnecessary power
draw off in respect
of the operation of
its air conditioning,
computers and
lighting.

Reduce our
environmental
footprint by pursuing
better environmental
management practices.
To maintain our
reputation and gain
the full support of our
neighbours.

How we respond to
these issues

5. MANAGEMENT APPROACH AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
We at Seylan Developments PLC strive to achieve our corporate goals based on sustainable development
which, from our point of view rests on three pillars namely, social, environmental, and economic goals of
a company. We believe that economic goals of the company should be achieved while striking a balance
between the society and environment. This, from our point of view, is the key to sustainable development. We
endeavour to achieve this even during difficult times.

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE
Economic Sustainability Initiatives
Seylan Developments PLC is committed to generating both social and financial values. While generating
financial value for our shareholders is one of the main activities of the Company, we are also conscious of the
larger social obligations we have. We are conscious of the impact we have on all these social segments and
the impact our products and policies have on the economy and society in general.
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Economic Performance Indicators
Economic impacts of our activities across key stakeholders segments are as follows;

Value Addition
The value statement depicts the generation of wealth and its distribution among the stakeholders by acting
responsibly in all of our businesses/ social activities throughout the organization.

		
2011
Rs.’000

2010
Rs.’000

Value Added Statement
Income Earned by Seylan Developments PLC for Providing Services

154,392

147,714

Cost of Services

(58,359)

(122,813)

Value Added Services provided by Seylan Developments PLC

96,033

24,901

Non-Seylan Developments PLC Income

85,587

6,311

(133,123)

(36,090)

48,497

(4,878)

Provisions/Impairment of Investments

			
2011
Rs.’000

2010
Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Rs.’000

Value Allocated to Employees
Salaries, Wages and Other Benefits

24,950

15,547

To Government
Income Tax

1,552

56

Stamp Duty

58

25

VAT

79

576

Debit Tax

162

1,851

202

859

To Expansion and Growth
Surplus / (Deficit)
Depreciation

19,432
2,264

(27,739)
21,696
48,497

6,455

(21,284)
(4,878)

This part of the Report looks at Seylan Developments PLC’s impact on investors, customers and employees.
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Contributory Benefit Plan
The company provides a retirement plan for its workforce by using general resources to pay the obligations
to retired employees. According to the terms of Employees’ Provident Fund (EPF) Act No. 15 of 1958 and
its subsequent amendments and Employees’ Trust Fund (ETF) Act No. 46 of 1980 and its subsequent
amendments, employees are eligible for EPF and ETF contributions. The companies contribute the relevant
percentages of the eligible gross emoluments of employees to the Employees' Provident Fund and to the
Employees' Trust Fund respectively.
In relation to the rules of the provident fund, to which such contributions are made, the Company contributes 12
per cent as the employers’ contribution and the employees contribute 8 per cent to their Employees' Provident
Fund managed by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. Further, the Company also contributes 3 per cent to the
Employees’ Trust Fund managed by the Department of Labour.

Retirement Gratuity Plan
Employees are entitled to gratuity payable under the Payment of Gratuity Act No. 12 of 1983. The Company
has duly carried out an actuarial valuation on retirement benefit obligations as at the year end and the actuary
has used the projected unit credit method as prescribed in Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
Environmental Sustainability Initiatives
Seylan Developments PLC is concerned on the impact of every business process exerts on the ‘health’ of
the planet and, in extension and a willing to take the necessary measures to reduce dependence on nonrenewable resources, whilst putting into practice environmentally conscious business processes.
We promote initiatives such as internal paper recycling, employing energy saving lighting, minimizing
unnecessary power draw in respect of the operation of air conditioning, computers and lighting.
We are committed to continually improving our environmental performance by seeking opportunities to exceed
current standards of environmental protection.
In this section we examine how Seylan Developments PLC’s policies and processes help preserve the
environment and ensure its sustainability. A key aspect of the Company environmental strategy has been the
focus on employees and generating a cultural change within the organization that is committed to protecting
and preserving the environment.
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Environmental Performance
Indicators
1. Energy Conservation
Our goal is to minimize the impact of energy related
environmental damage by implementing a variety of
initiatives to reduce energy consumption. In achieving
our goals we Seylan Developments PLC constantly
monitors the energy use with a view of reducing costs
and making maximum use of energy consumed.
The use of air-conditioning is reduced wherever
possible and temperatures are regulated to maintain
an optimum level of comfort. Computers come with
low radiation levels and are programmed to transit to
stand by mode within a short time of idling.

2. Waste Management
A variety of waste material is collected within our
company and they are disposed in a responsible
manner. Different types of waste are segregated and
various systems are developed to collect and dispose
of this waste. Where waste does arise, the Company
tries to reuse and recycle wherever is technically and
economically feasible.

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE
Social Sustainability Initiatives
Seylan Developments PLC is committed to encourage
our employees to improve their skills, performance and
their career developments through good governance
practices implemented within the Company.

Social Performance Indicators
a) Transparency:
The company ensures transparency of communication
at all times and communicates with its stakeholders
via- the Annual Report, announcements made through
the Colombo Stock Exchange, Press Releases and
our corporate website.
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b) More than just a workplace
An equal opportunity employer
Seylan Developments PLC considers its employees as its greatest asset.
The group practices equality of opportunity for all employees irrespective of ethnic origin, religion, gender or
marital status.
Employees are the soul of the institution and we have endeavoured to create inspiring and safe workplaces
for our staff. In this section we look at how the Company’s activities have had an impact on society and on our
employees.

Total workforce by employment type, employment contract, gender, ethnicity and age
Category of Employment
Category

No. of Employees

Percentage (%)

Permanent

27

87%

Contract

04

13%

Trainee

-

-

31

100%

Total

Breakdown of Employees per Category according to Gender
Gender

Supervisory/ Technical

Clerical & Alied

Executive

Total

Male

15

06

03

24

Female

01

02

04

07

Breakdown of Employees per Category according to Ethnic Group
Ethnic Group

Supervisory/ Technical

Clerical & Alied

Executive

Total

Sinhala

15

08

06

29

Tamil

01

-

-

01

Muslim

-

-

-

-

Burger

-

-

01

01

Others

-

-

-

-
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Breakdown of Employees according to Age
		
Age

No. of Employees

< 20

-

20 – 29

02

30 – 39

10

40 – 49

14

>50

05

Breakdown of Employees according to No. of years service
Age

No. of Employees

<5

03

5–9

08

10 – 19

20

20 – 29

-

>30

-

Total number and rate of employee turnover by age group and gender
Breakdown of Employees resignation according to age
Age

No. of Resignations

< 20

-

20 – 29

-

30 – 39

02

40 – 49

-

>50

07

Breakdown of Employees resignation according to gender
Gender

No. of Resignations

Male

09

Female

-

c) Child Labour
Our employment practices are governed by the laws and regulations of the country, our inherent commitment
to fair and equal employment practices and an overall organizational practice that does not tolerate child
labour, harassment or discrimination in the workplace.
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d) Health & Safety
A healthy workforce is a necessary foundation for economic growth and is critical when achieving our business
objectives wherever we operate. Risks associated with health, safety, security, and the environment are
inherent and recognizing these risks, Seylan Developments PLC takes a disciplined and systematic approach
to business continuity planning and emergency preparedness.
All employees of Seylan Developments PLC are covered by Hospitalization and Insurance Scheme. The
Company Health Policy makes direct payments through Sri Lanka Insurance Corporation to the respective
hospitals on behalf of the employee. The Company also contributions towards staff outdoor medical.
Ensuring the highest level of workplace safety is a priority for Seylan Developments PLC. The Company
periodically undertakes an assessment of its safety levels to ensure that the highest level of safety is observed
across all institutions. Last year, there were no accidents recorded on any of our premises.

e) Employee Communication
Human Resource policies and practices have been established to contribute to build employee engagement.
Employees are actively encouraged to express themselves openly if any problem arises relating to work.
We practice an “Open Door Policy” which enables any employee to have a face to face discussion with the
Director/Acting General Manager.

f) Employee Welfare
Employees are the most valuable resource in our business therefore we at Seylan Developments PLC are
dedicated towards the convenience of our employees and providing them the best. The Welfare Society of the
Company has been operational for many years with the objective of assisting our employees in various issues
arising at work and arranges welfare activities.
The benefits provide by Seylan Developments PLC include:
Benefits (Permanent)

Full-time Employees

Insurance

Yes

Staff Loans

Yes

Outdoor Medical Allowances

Yes
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Annual Report and Accounts for 2011 were signed on 17th February, 2012.
19th Annual General Meeting held on 31st March, 2011

Submission of the Interim Financial Statements in terms of Rule 7.4 of the Colombo Stock
Exchange – 2011
•

For the three months ended March 31, 2011 (un-audited) on 27th April, 2011

•

For the six months ended June 30, 2011 (un-audited) on 25th July, 2011

•

For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 (un-audited) on 8th November, 2011

•

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 (un-audited) before 29th February, 2012

Proposed Financial Calendar – 2012
20th Annual General Meeting to be held in 29th March, 2012

Submission of Interim Financial Statements in terms of Rule 7.4 of the Colombo Stock
Exchange – 2012
•

For the three months ended March 31, 2012 (un-audited) on or before May 15, 2012

•

For the six months ended June 30, 2012 (un-audited) on or before August 15, 2012

•

For the nine months ended September 30, 2012 (un-audited) on or before November 15, 2012

•

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 (un-audited) on or before February 28, 2013
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ANNUAL REPORT OF THE BOARD ON THE STATE OF
AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY
The details set out herein provide the information required by the Companies Act. No. 7 of 2007, the Listing
Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange and recommended best accounting practices. The Annual Report
was approved by the Directors on 17th February 2012.

GENERAL
The Board of Directors have pleasure in presenting their report to the members, together with the audited
Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2011 of Seylan Developments PLC, a Public Limited
Liability Company incorporated in Sri Lanka on 3rd September 1992 quoted in the Colombo Stock Exchange
on the same day and re-registered under the Companies Act, No. 07 of 2007 on 22 May 2008.

Principal Activities
The nature of principal activities of the Company which are property development/management and providing
services to the tenants of East Tower and the apartment tenants at the West Tower was not significantly
changed during the year.
Management of the company highly focused on formalizing and streamlining the processes of the Company’s
affairs during the year under review.

Strategic Planning Process For Future

•

Developments

Assigning Specific
responsibilities

•

VISION
MISSION

Introducing transparent
purchasing procedure

•

GOALS
OBJECTIVES

Implementing Preventive
Maintenance processes

•
Improve Company’s Existing

Regularizing & Controlling
transactions etc,

Processes

Financial Statements
The Financial Statements of the Company is given on 61 to 92 pages.

Auditors’ Report
The Auditors Report on the Financial Statements is given on page 60.

Accounting Policies
The Accounting Policies adopted in the preparation of Financial Statements is given on pages 66 to 75.
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Interests Register
The Interests Register is maintained by the Company, as required by the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007. All
Directors have made declarations as provided for in Section 192 (2) of the aforesaid Companies Act. Entries
were made in the Interests Register on Directors’ interests in contracts and remuneration paid to them etc. The
Interests Register is available for inspection as required by the Companies Act.

Review of Business
The Chairman’s Statement on page 04 to 05 provides an overall assessment on the financial position of the
Company.

Directors’ Remunerations
Directors’ remuneration, in respect of the Company for the financial year ended December 31, 2011 is given
on Note 9 on the Financial Statements on page 76.

Donations
No donations were made to approved charities during the year.

Directorate
List of Directors
The following were the Directors of the Company during the year:
Mr. R. Nadarajah (Chairman)
Mr. S. R. Wijesinghe (Resigned 22nd March 2011)
Mr. H. L. Gunasekara
Mr. V. R. De Silva (Resigned 1st April 2011)
Mr. S. Palihawadana
Mr. C. Kotigala (Resigned 23rd August 2011)
Mr. K. Rathnayaka
Mr. P. Saravanapawan (Appointed on 3rd February 2011)
Dr. P. M. Gunasekera (Appointed on 8th March 2011)
Mr. S. Palihawadana was appointed as the Deputy Chairman of the Company effective from 17th February 2012
Mr. H. L. Gunasekara resigned from the Board with effect from 21st January 2012.
Mr. M. K. Muthukumar appointed to the Board of Directors of Seylan Developments PLC with effect from 17th
February 2012.

Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of Financial Statements of the Company which should reflect
a true and fair view of the state of its affairs. The Directors are of the view that the Income Statement, Balance
Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, Accounting Policies and Notes thereto appearing
on pages 61 to 91 have been prepared in conformity with the requirements of the Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards, Companies Act No. 7 of 2007, Sri Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards Act. No. 15 of 1995
and the Listing rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Interests in Shares
The Directors share holding information of the Company are as follows:
Mr. R. Nadarajah 		

- 15,000 Shares

Mr. H. L. Gunasekara 		

- 1,000 Shares

Mr. S. Palihawadana		

- 6,600 Shares

Mr. K. Rathnayaka 		

- Nil

Mr. P. Saravanapawan 		

- Nil

Dr. P. M. Gunasekera		

- Nil

Directors’ Interests in Contracts
Directors’ interests in contracts with the Company, both direct and indirect are disclosed on page 88 to 89.
These interests have been declared at Directors’ Meetings. Directors have no direct or indirect interests in any
other contract or proposed contracts with the Company.

Corporate Governance
Systems and procedures are in place to ensure that Corporate Governance is adequately and practically dealt
with. The Board of Directors has focused on the necessary resources and processes required to ensure that
the Company complies with the Codes of Best Practice on Corporate Governance issued by regulators as
detailed in the Section on ‘Corporate Governance’ on pages 19 to 33.

Auditors
The Audit Committee reviews the appointment of the Auditors, their effectiveness, independence and
relationship with the Company. In accordance with Section 158 of the Companies Act No. 7 of 2007, the
Auditors of the Company Messrs. KPMG Ford, Rhodes Thornton & Company are deemed reappointed as
Auditors of the Company.
The Auditors, Messrs. KPMG Ford, Rhodes Thornton & Company, Chartered Accountants were paid Rs.
625,000/- as audit fees for the year 2011.(Audit fees for the year 2010 was Rs. 550,000/-).

System of Internal Controls
The Board of Directors has taken steps to oversee the implementation of an effective and comprehensive
system of Internal Controls covering financial operations and compliance controls required to carry on the
business of the Company in an orderly manner, safeguard its assets and secure accuracy and reliability of the
records. Controls over financial reporting were also reviewed during the year to ensure that they are robust
and operationally sound.

Income
The Company recorded a profit of Rs.19.4 Million after tax for the financial year ended 31st December 2011.
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Operating Results
Details of profit relating to the Company are given below:

For the year ended December 31,

2011

2010

Profit / (Loss) from operations for the year

35,130,322

57,017,228

Less : Net Finance Expense

14,146,388

84,701,319

Profit / (Loss) before taxation

20,983,934

(27,684,091)

Less : Provision for taxation

1,552,088

55,525

Net Profit / (Loss) after taxation

19,431,846

(27,739,616)

Profit / (Loss) Carried Forward

19,431,846

(27,739,616)

PROFIT & LOSS AFTER TAX
600,000,000
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500,000,000
400,000,000
300,000,000
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PAT

200,000,000
100,000,000
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0
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-100,000,000
-200,000,000
-300,000,000
-400,000,000

YEAR

2008

Income Tax Expenses
Income tax expense has been computed at the rates mentioned in Note 11 of the Financial Statements on
pages 77 to 78.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details on Capital expenditure on Property, Plant and Equipment are given in Note 13 of the Financial
Statements on page 79 of this Annual Report.

Investment Property
The land & the buildings held to earn rental income and capital appreciation are classified as an Investment
Property. Investment property is stated at ‘Fair Value’ based on a valuation carried out by a Professional valuer
in 2009 and the difference between the carrying value and the revalued amount has been taken to the Income
Statement. The Directors are of the opinion that the revalued amounts are not in excess of the current market
value of such properties. Details of Investment Properties are given in Note 14 of the Financial Statements on
page 80.
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The Board has decided that the revaluation of properties should take place once in 3 Years in line with the
accounting standard SLAS 40 Investment Property.

Stated Capital
The Stated Capital as at December 31, 2011 was Rs. 1,644,391,650/- consisting of 147,964,860 Ordinary
shares. The Company issued 73,982,430 ordinary voting shares, through a 1 for 1 Rights issue in June 2011,
at Rs 11.00 per share raising Rs. 813,806,730, which was primarily utilized to settle Interest Bearing Loans and
Borrowings of the Company. Surplus invested in Fixed Deposits and Government Securities..

Share Information
Information on shareholding is given on pages 93 to 94.

Shareholdings
There were 9,053 registered shareholders (5,941 in 2010) holding Ordinary Voting Shares as at December 31,
2011. The distribution of shareholding is given on page 93.

Substantial Shareholdings
The list of the top twenty shareholders is given on page 94 of the Annual Report.

Equitable Treatment to Shareholders
All shareholders have been treated equally in accordance with the original terms of issue.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations
The Directors, to the best of their knowledge and belief, confirm that the Company has not engaged in any
activities that contravene laws and regulations.

Statutory Payments
The Directors, to the best of their knowledge and belief confirm and are satisfied that all statutory payments to
the Government regulatory institutions have been settled.

Outstanding Litigation
There were no litigation pending against the Company as at December 31, 2011, other than the cases disclosed
in Note 27 on page 90.

Events after the Balance Sheets Date
There have not been any material events that occurred subsequent to the date of the Balance Sheet that
require adjustments to the Financial Statements.
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Going Concern
The Directors having considered the financial position, operating conditions, regulatory requirements, and
matters required to be addressed in the corporate governance code are satisfied that the Company has
adequate resources to continue its operations in the foreseeable future. The Financial Statement of the
company has been prepared accordingly on a Going Concern Basis.

Notice of Meeting
Notice of Meeting relating to the Twentieth Annual General Meeting is given on page 96 .
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

…………………..............
R. Nadarajah
Chairman
		

…………………..............
K. Rathnayaka
Executive Director/
Acting General Manager

17th February 2012
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…………………..............
SSP Corporate Services (Pvt) Ltd
Company Secretary

Statement of Directors’ Responsibility
In terms of Sections 150 (1) and 151 (1) of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, the Directors are responsible
for ensuring that the Company maintain proper books of accounts of all transactions and events and prepares
Financial Statements reflecting a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the Balance Sheet
date and the profit or loss for the year ending on the Balance Sheet date.
The Directors have taken appropriate steps to ensure that the Company maintain proper books of accounts
and reviews the financial reporting system at their meetings through the Audit Committee, the Report of which
Committee is given on page 34 to 35. The Board of Directors also approves Interim Financial Statements prior
to their release following a review and recommendation by the Audit Committee.
The Financial Statements for the year 2011, prepared and presented in this Annual Report is consistent with
the underlying books of accounts and is in conformity with the requirements of the Sri Lanka Accounting
Standards, Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, Sri Lanka Accounting & Auditing Standards Act No. 15 of 1995 and
Section 7 on Continuing Listing Requirements of the Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange.
The Directors have taken reasonable measures to safeguard the assets of the Company, by establishing of
an appropriate system of internal controls with the view to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are responsible for the formulation of overall business policies and for guiding Management
on the conduct of the activities of the Company. Accordingly, the day to day Management of the Company is
delegated to a competent management team. The Directors have also made the necessary assessment that
the Company ability to continue as a going concern and the Company has adequate resources to continue in its
operations. The Company continues to adopt the Going Concern Basis in preparing the Financial Statements.
The Board of Directors also wish to confirm that as required under Sections 166 (1) and 167 (1) of the Companies
Act, they have prepared the Annual Report and ensured that a copy thereof is sent to every shareholder of
Company, within the stipulated period.
The Company’s External Auditors, Messrs KPMG Ford, Rhodes, Thornton & Co.,was provided with every
opportunity to undertake the inspections they considered appropriate.
The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge, all statutory payments relating to employees and
Government and other statutory bodies that were due in respect of the Company have been paid where
relevant or provided for.

..........................................
R. Nadarajah
Chairman
		

..........................................

..........................................

K. Rathnayaka
Executive Director/
Acting General Manager

SSP Corporate Services (Pvt) Ltd
Company Secretary

17th February 2012
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INCOME STATEMENT			
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 				
Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees
Note
Rental Income

4

2011

2010

148,451,419

143,156,566

Other income
5
82,775,959
10,836,615
		
		
231,227,378
153,993,181
			
Personnel cost
6
(24,949,633)
(15,546,698)
Premises, equipments, establishments		

(30,793,343)

(25,455,362)

Administrative expenses		

(6,957,458)

(19,633,437)

Marketing expenses		
(273,950)
(249,613)
		
168,252,994
93,108,071
Provision for doubtful receivables

7

(826,619)

(5,198,242)

Provision / impairment of investments
8
(132,296,053)
(30,892,601)
		
Results from operating activities

9

35,130,322

57,017,228

Net finance income / (expense)
10
(14,146,388)
(84,701,319)
		
Profit / (Loss) before income taxation		

20,983,934

(27,684,091)

Income tax expense
11
(1,552,088)
(55,525)
		
Net Profit / (Loss) for the year		
19,431,846
(27,739,616)
		
Earnings / (Loss) per share
12
0.16
(0.30)
			
The Notes on pages 76 to 92, form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees

Note
2011
2010
Assets
Non Current Assets				
Property, Plant & Equipment
13
3,227,055
5,494,921
Investment Property
14
4,594,360,396
4,591,932,477
Investment in Property Development Projects
15
210,651,676
Investment Securities
16
267,544
2,393,823
		
Total Non Current Assets		
4,597,854,995
4,810,472,897
		
Current Assets				
Inventories
17
43,869,165
1,075,177
Trade and Other Receivables
18
52,718,858
44,665,375
Other Assets
19
16,560,123
8,851,901
Short Term Investments
20
75,100,000
100,000
Income Tax Receivable
21
6,116,401
2,989,217
Cash and Cash Equivalents		
9,692,678
5,059,483
		
Total Current Assets		
204,057,225
62,741,153
		
		
Total Assets		
4,801,912,220
4,873,214,050
		
Equity and Liabilities				
Equity 				
Stated Capital
22
1,644,391,650
1,356,078,570
Reserves		
525,927,896
2,073,232,126
Retained Earnings		
2,249,354,996
89,859,948
		
4,419,674,542
3,519,170,644
		
Non Current Liabilities			
Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings
23
1,077,315
Rent, Security Deposits & Other Payable		
55,200,000
78,000,000
Deferred Tax Liability
24
267,493,177
334,155,380
		
		 322,693,177
413,232,695
		
Current Liabilities				
Bank Overdrafts		
2,478,840
4,606,529
Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings
23
800,032,882
Other Liabilities
25
57,065,661
136,171,300
		
59,544,501
940,810,711
		
		
Total Equity and Liabilities		
4,801,912,220
4,873,214,050
		
The notes on pages 76 to 92, from an integral part of these Financial Statements.
The Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance with the requirement of Companies Act no 7 of 2007

…………………..…..
N. P. Arangalage		
Accountant		
			
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial Statements. 		
Approved and signed on behalf of the board 			
		
…………………..…..		
…………………..…..
R. Nadarajah		
K. Rathnayaka
Chairman		

Colombo
17th February 2012
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Executive Director/Acting General Manager		

-

-

-

-

90,760,620

-

-

1,553,631,030

-

-

-

90,760,620

-

-

-

-

-

(525,493,650)

-

-

525,493,650

-

525,493,650

-

-

2,073,232,126

-

2,073,232,126

Revaluation
Reserve

525,493,650

-

-

-

434,246

-

(168,873)

603,119

525,493,650 (2,073,232,126)

-

-

-

-

-

Capital Redemption Capital Reserve
Reserve Fund 		

90,760,620

-

813,806,730

-

739,824,300

-

739,824,300

Share
Premium

2,249,354,996

66,831,076

-

-

2,073,232,126

-

19,431,846

89,859,948

(27,739,616)

117,598,564

Retained
Earnings

4,419,674,542

66,831,076

(168,873)

603,119

-

813,806,730

19,431,846

3,519,170,644

(27,739,616)

3,546,910,260

Total 		

										
						
The notes on pages 76 to 92, form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Balance as at 31.12.2011

Reversal of Deferred Tax on Revaluation
gain of Investment Property (Note -24)

Deferred Tax Liability (Note -24)

Transfers during the Period
Revaluation surplus on Property Plant &
Equipments

Rights Issue

Add : Net profit for the period-

Balance as at 31.12.2010

Add : Net loss for the period

Restated balance as at 01.01.2010

Stated capital
		

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees											
										

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 								

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees

		 2011
2010
Cash Flows from Operating Activities			
Interest Received
8,527,953
32,572
Interest Payments
(14,475,664)
(84,733,891)
Receipt from other Operating Activities
159,204,093
149,247,201
Cash payments to Employees, Suppliers and Tax Authorities
(67,888,239)
(71,388,026)
		
Operating profit before changes in operating assets
85,368,143
(6,842,144)
		
(Increase)/Decrease in operating assets :

				

Funds Advanced to Customers,Stock & Receivables		

(16,827,239)

68,124,790

Increase/(Decrease) in operating liabilities :

				

Negotiable Certificates of Deposits & Trade payables
(174,867,834)
(102,816,001)
		
Cash Generated from Operations
(106,326,930)
(41,533,355)
		
Income Taxes 		
(713,399)
(6,272,854)
		
Net cash from Operating Activities
(107,040,329)
(47,806,209)
		
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

				

Purchase of Dealing Securities
(75,028,440)
Disposal of Dealing Securities
2,624,085
Investments in Projects
(47,937)
(1,151,678)
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
(126,014)
(77,833)
Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment
5,300,500
6,805,522
Capital repayment from projects
17,064,871
Purchase of Investment Property		
(2,427,919)
(459,990)
		
Net cash from Investing Activities
(52,640,854)
5,116,021
		
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

FINANCIAL REPORTS

				

Net increase/(Decrease) in Other Borrowings		
(647,364,663)
110,880,585
Cash proceeds from Rights Issue		
813,806,730
		
Net Cash from Financing Activities
166,442,067
110,880,585
		
Net increase in Cash and Cash equivalents
6,760,884
68,190,397
Cash and Cash Equivalents at beginning of period		
452,954
(67,737,443)
		
Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of period
7,213,838
452,954
		
Cash & Cash Equivalents
9,692,678
5,059,483
Bank Overdraft
(2,478,840)
(4,606,529)
		
Net Cash & Short Term Funds ( Cash & Cash Equivalents)		
7,213,838
452,954
		
		
				
		
The notes on pages 76 to 92, form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Contd.)					

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees
				

Reconciliation of Operating Activities				
		 2011
2010
Cash Flows from Operating Activities				
Net Profit/(Loss) before taxation
20,983,934
(27,684,091)

				
Adjustment for:				
Gratuity		
4,089,591
(17,121,013)
Miscellaneous Income
(68,140,211)
(9,923,226)
Profit on sale of Fixed Assets
(3,636,047)
(4,745,980)
Profit on sale of Investments Securities
(470,435)
Depreciation
2,264,341
6,455,880
Provision/Impairment of Investments
132,296,053
30,892,601
Bad & Doubtful Debtors
826,619
5,198,242
Expenses for other payables		
7,089,804
Expenses written off		
2,995,639
Over Provision reversals		
(5,928,735)
Provision for AGM Expenses
3,083,033
		
Operating profit before changes in operating assets
85,368,143
(6,842,144)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
1. Reporting Entity
						
Seylan Developments PLC (the “Company”) is a “Public Quoted Company” and a Limited Liability Company
Incorporated and domiciled in Sri Lanka and listed on the Colombo Stock Exchange.
The Company’s registered office is situated at No. 90, Galle Road, Colombo 03.
The Company is in the business of development of property, administration & maintenance.
The Company is a subsidiary of Seylan Bank PLC.
The staff strength of the Company as at 31st December 2011 is 31 (2010- 35).

2. Basis of Preparation
(a) Statement of compliance
The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLAS) as
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL), and the requirements of the Companies
Act No 07 of 2007.
The Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2011 were authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors on 17th February 2012.

(b) Basis of Measurement
The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and applied consistently with no
adjustments being made for inflationary factors affecting the Financial Statements, except for the following;
•

Investment Properties are measured at cost at the time of acquisition and subsequently at revalued
amounts (Fair value model).

(c) Functional and presentation currency
The Financial Statements are presented in Sri Lankan Rupees, which is the Company’s functional currency.

(d) Use of Estimates and Judgments

FINANCIAL REPORTS

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with SLASs requires the Management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
In particular, Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the Financial Statements
are described in the following notes:
Note 14		

- Investment Property

Note 24		

- Deferred Taxation

Note 25.1

- Measurement of Defined Benefit Obligations
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	 (Contd.)
			
(e) Materiality and Aggregation
Each material class of similar items is presented separately in the Financial Statements. Items of a dissimilar
nature or function are presented separately unless they are immaterial.

3. Consistency of Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Financial
statements.

3.1 Foreign currency transactions
All foreign exchange transactions are converted to Sri Lankan Rupees, which is the reporting currency, at
the rates of exchange prevailing at the time the transactions were affected. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Sri Lanka Rupee equivalents using year-end spot foreign
exchange rates. Non- monetary assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates that existed when
the values were determined. The resulting gains and losses are accounted for in profit or loss.

3.2 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement
Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost
of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable
to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the site on which they are located.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that
equipment.
When parts of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of Property, Plant and Equipment, and are recognized net
within other income in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the Revaluation

Revaluation
Property Plant and Equipments of the Company are revalued every five years on a roll over basis to ensure
the carrying amounts do not differ materially from the fair values at the Balance Sheet Date. On revaluation
of an asset, any increase in the carrying amount is credited directly to equity, under revaluation reserve or
used to reverse a previous revaluation decrease relating to the same asset, which was charged to the Income
Statement. In this circumstance, the increase is recognized as an income to the extent of the previous write
down. Any decrease in the carrying amount is recognized as an expense in the Income Statement or debited
directly to Equity under Revaluation Reserve to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation
reserve in respect of that asset.
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Reserve are transferred to Retained Earnings.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
Reclassification to Investment property
When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured
to fair value and reclassified as an Investment Property. Any gain arising on remeasurement is recognised
in profit or loss to the extent the gain reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific property, with any
remaining gain recognized in the Statement of Changes in Equity and presented in the Revaluation Reserve
in Equity. Any loss is recognized in the Statement of Changes in Equity and presented in the Revaluation
Reserve in Equity to the extent that an amount had previously been included in the Revaluation Reserve
relating to the specific property, with any remaining loss recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a part of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment is recognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company,
and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of
the day-to-day servicing of Property, Plant and Equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Derecognition
The carrying amount of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment is derecognized on disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition
of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognized. When
replacement costs are recognized in the carrying amount of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment, the
remaining carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. Major inspection costs are capitalized. At
each such capitalization, the remaining carrying amount of the previous cost of inspections is derecognized.

Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount
substituted for cost, less its residual value. Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment, since this most closely
reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain
that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

FINANCIAL REPORTS

Depreciation

Useful Life

Furniture & Fittings

10%

10

Equipment

20%

05

Interior Décor

50%

02

Motor Cars

20%

05

Motorcycles

25%

04

33.33%

03

50%

02

Tools
Cutlery & Crockery

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset
is classified as held for sale and the date that the asset is derecognized.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted
if appropriate.
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3.3 Intangible assets – Software
Software acquired is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expense as incurred. Amortization
is recognized in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, from the
date that is available for use since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future
economic benefits embodied in the asset. The estimated useful life of software is as follows;
							
Amortization
Accounting Software

20%

Useful Life			
05

3.4 Leased assets
Leases in terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the
lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Other leases are operating leases and, except for Investment Property, the leased assets are not recognized
in the Balance Sheet. Investment Property held under an operating lease is recognized in the Balance Sheet
at its fair value.

3.5 Impairment
The carrying values of Property, Plant and Equipment are reviewed for impairment indicators annually or when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If such indications
exist and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down
to their recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss unless it reverses a previous
revaluation surplus for the same asset. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less
cost to sell or its value in use.
An impairment loss in respect of assets other than goodwill recognized in prior periods, are assessed at each
reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

3.6 Investment Property
Investment Properties are those which are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for
both. Investment Properties are stated at fair value. An external, independent valuation Company, having an
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Balance Sheet date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)		
		
appropriate recognized professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of
property being valued, values the portfolio every 3 years. The fair values are based on market values, being
the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing
buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each
acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.
Valuations reflect, where appropriate; the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible for meeting
lease commitments or likely to be in occupation after letting of vacant accommodation and the market’s general
perception of their credit-worthiness; the allocation of maintenance and insurance responsibilities between
lessor and lessee; and the remaining economic life of the property. It has been assumed that whenever
rent reviews or lease renewals are pending with anticipated reversionary increases, all notices and where
appropriate counter notices have been served validly and within the appropriate time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognized in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment property is accounted for as described in accounting policy.
When an item of Property, Plant and Equipment is transferred to Investment Property following a change in its
use, any differences arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of the item immediately prior
to transfer and its fair value is recognized directly in Equity if it is a gain. Upon disposal of the item the gain is
transferred to Retained Earnings. Any loss arising in this manner is recognized in profit or loss immediately.
If an Investment Property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as Property, Plant and Equipment and its
fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost for subsequent accounting.
When the Company begins to redevelop an existing Investment Property for continued future use as
investment property, the property remains an Investment Property, which is measured based on fair
value model, and is not reclassified as property, plant and equipment during the redevelopment.
A property interest under an operating lease is classified and accounted for as an Investment Property on a
property-by-property basis when the Company holds it to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both any

FINANCIAL REPORTS

such property interest under an operating lease classified as an Investment Property is carried at fair value.
Lease payments are accounted for as described in accounting policy.

3.7 Investment Property under development
Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as Investment Property is classified as Investment
Property Under Development (Development Projects) and stated at cost until construction or development is
complete, at which time it is reclassified and subsequently accounted for as Investment Property. At the date
of transfer, the difference between fair value and cost is recorded as income in profit or loss.
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All costs directly associated with the purchase and construction of a property, and all subsequent capital
expenditures for the development qualifying as acquisition costs are capitalized. Borrowing costs are capitalized
if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalization
of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures
and borrowing costs are being incurred. Capitalization of borrowing costs may continue until the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use.
If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized.
The capitalization rate is arrived at by reference to the actual rate payable on borrowings for development
purposes or, with regard to that part of the development cost financed out of general funds, to the average rate.

3.8 Investments
a. Investment Securities
These are acquired and held for yield or capital growth in the medium /long term. Such securities are recorded
at cost. Changes in market values of these securities are not taken into account unless they are considered
to be a permanent diminution in value. In classifying securities as “Investment”, the Company has determined
that it has both the positive intention and ability to hold the securities until their maturity date. Unquoted long
term investments are stated at cost.

b. Other investments
Other investments consist of fixed deposits and debentures.
Debentures are held with the intention to resale over a short period of time. Such securities are recorded at
cost.

3.9 Inventory
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of Inventories is based on
the first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or
conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs

3.10 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at the amounts estimated to be realized after providing for bad and
doubtful debts.
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to sell.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)		
		
3.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents comprise cash in hand and short term deposits. Company overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are included as
components of Cash and Cash Equivalents for the purpose of presenting the Cash flow statement.
Cash Flow Statement is prepared under the “direct” method as per Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 09 - Cash
Flow Statements.

3.12 Stated Capital
3.12.1 Ordinary Shares
Company’s Stated Capital comprises of ordinary shares, which are classified as Equity.

3.13 Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation.

3.14 Employee benefits
3.14.1 Defined benefit plan
The Company operates an approved Gratuity Fund to facilitate the payments for permanent staff of the
Company.
The Company’s obligation in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is calculated by estimating the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods and
discounting that benefit to determine its present value, then deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The
discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on Government bonds that have maturity dates approximating to
the terms of the Company’s obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the Projected
Unit Credit Method which is the method recommended by Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 16 (revised 2006)
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“Employee Benefits” (SLAS 16).
When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by
employees is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits
become vested. To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognized immediately in
profit or loss.
The Company carries out an actuarial valuation of the Gratuity Fund in December each year to ascertain the
full liability of the Fund. The valuation method used by the actuary to value the Fund is the “Projected Unit
Credit Method”, the method recommended by SLAS 16.
However, under the Payment of Gratuity Act No. 12 of 1983, the liability to an employee arises only on
completion of five years of continual service.
72 | Annual Report 2011 - Seylan Developments PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
3.14.2 Defined contribution plan.
A defined contribution plan is a post employment plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into
a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay a further amount. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as expense in profit or loss as and when they are
due.

3.14.2 (a) Employees’ Provident Fund
The Company and employees contribute 12% and 8% respectively on the salary of each employee to the
Employees' Provident Fund. (Note - 06)

3.14.2 (b) Employees’ Trust Fund
The Company contributes 3% of the salary of each employee to the Employees’ Trust Fund. The total amount
recognized as an expense to the Company for contribution to ETF is disclosed in the Notes to Financial
Statements. (Note - 06)

3.15 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their cost

3.16 Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments and contingencies as at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 29 to the Financial
Statements.

3.17 Events after the Balance Sheet Date
All material and important events which occur after the Balance Sheet date have been considered and disclosed
in Note 28 or adjusted as applicable.

3.18 Turnover
3.18.1 Rental income
Rental income from Investment Property leased out under operating lease is recognized in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognized as an integral part of
the total rental income.
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3.18.2 Other income
Dividends
Dividend income is recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established.

Others
Other income is recognized on an accrual basis. Net Gains and losses of a revenue nature on the disposal of
Property Plant and Equipment and other non-current assets including investments have been accounted for
in profit or loss, having deducted from proceeds on disposal, the carrying amount of the assets and related
selling expenses.

3.19 Expenses
Expenses are recognized in profit or loss as they are incurred, in the period to which they relate.

3.20 Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the
term of the lease. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance
expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during
the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

3.21 Finance income and expenses
Finance income comprise of the interest income on saving deposit which is recognized as it accrues in profit
or loss.
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, interest on overdrafts, interest on finance lease and
other charges.

3.22 Taxation
3.22.1 Current taxes

FINANCIAL REPORTS

The provision for Income Tax is based on the elements of income and expenditure as reported in the Financial
Statements and computed in accordance with the provisions of the Inland Revenue Act No 10 of 2006 and
subsequent amendments thereon.

3.22.2 Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
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Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

3.22.3 Economic Service Charge (ESC)
ESC is payable on the liable turnover at specified rates. As per the provision of the Economic Service Charge
Act No. 13 of 2006 and subsequent amendments thereto, ESC is deductible from the income tax liability. Any
unclaimed payment can be carried forward and set off against the income tax payable as per the relevant
provision in the Act.

3.23 Earnings per share (EPS)
The Company presents basic EPS data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period.

3.24 New Accounting Standards issued but not Effective as At
Balance Sheet Date
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL) has issued a new volume of Sri Lanka. Accounting
Standards - 2011, applicable for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
These standards provide comprehensive guidance on identification, classification, measurement and
presentation of financial instruments into financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments.
The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this standard. However, it is unlikely that this
Standard will have a material impact on the Financial Statements since majority of assets and liabilities of the
Company except few items such as Property Plant & Equipments and Investment Property are expected to
be realized within the following 12 months. Investment Property of the Company is recorded on the fair value
basis and Property, Plant and Equipments were also revalued during the year 2011.

The comparative information is re-classified wherever necessary to conform with the current year's presentation
in order to provide a better presentation. The detail of restatement is disclose in Note 31 to the Financial
Statements.

3.26 Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial
Statements. Please refer to page 57 for the statement of the Directors’ Responsibility for financial reporting.
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3.25 Comparative Information

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees						
		 2011

2010

4 Turnover			

Rental Income
148,451,419
143,156,566
		
		
148,451,419
143,156,566
		
			

5 Other Income					

Management Fees
4,877,020
3,487,186
Profit on disposal of Property Plant and Equipment
3,636,047
4,745,980
Dividend Income
657
884
Work Order Income
1,063,278
1,070,501
Miscellaneous Income
73,198,957
1,532,064
		
		
82,775,959
10,836,615
		

6 Personnel Cost 			

Salary and Wages (including Directors’ Emoluments)
12,621,689
22,054,147
Statutory EPF 		
1,481,194
2,797,873
Statutory ETF
370,298
678,442
Staff allowances 		
2,152,950
3,089,779
(Reversal) / provision For Retirement Benefits (Note 25.1.f)
4,089,591
(17,121,013)
Other Staff Expenses
4,233,911
4,047,470
		
		
24,949,633
15,546,698
		
			

7 Provision for Doubtful Receivables

Provision for Naiwala project (Note 15.3)		
16,863,063
Provision for Doubtful Receivables (Note 19.1)
826,619
30,513,559
Provision for advance payments
6,481,658
Reversal of expenses / payables		
(48,660,038)
		
		
826,619
5,198,242
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8 Provision / Impairment of Investments				

Diminution in value of unquoted investments (Note 16 )		
24,850,000
Provision for impairment (Note 20)
6,042,601
Provision for impairment of Project Investments (Note 15.1 )
70,351,000
Provision for impairment of Inventories (Note 17)
21,745,053
Provision for Corporate Guarantee (Note 30)		
40,200,000
		
		
132,296,053
30,892,601
		

9 Results from Operating Activities			
Results from operating activities are stated after deducting all operating expenses including the following,		
Directors’ Emoluments
Audit Fees - External
Non Audit Fees
Depreciation (Note 13)		
Legal Fees
Professional Fees
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940,000
625,000
2,264,341
89,000
636,315

8,727,942
525,000
439,955
6,455,880
564,425
524,709

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees
						
		 2011
2010
			

10 Financing income & expenses					
10.1 Finance Income					

Interest Income -Saving Deposit		
8,863
32,572
Interest Income -Fixed Deposit
897,945
Interest Income -REPO
7,621,145
Interest Income -Staff Loan		
223,409
		
		
8,751,362
32,572
		

10.2 Finance Expenses 			

Interest on Overdraft
106,087
6,170,623
Interest on Bank Loan		
13,419,030
75,587,868
Bank Charges
75,455
76,325
Debit Tax		
161,583
201,305
Overdue Interest
333,082
889,171
Interest on Leasing
1,833,370
1,036,099
Trustee Fees
432,600
772,500
Rights Issue Expenses
6,536,543
		
		
22,897,750
84,733,891
		
		
Net Finance Expenses
14,146,388
84,701,319
		
				

11 Income Tax Expenses

		 2011
2010
Current Tax				
Current Tax
1,552,088
7,410
Social Responsibility Levy 		
111
Under provision for Taxation 		
37,503
Under provision for SRL		
10,501
		
		
1,552,088
55,525
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Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees
		 2011

2010

11.1 Reconciliation of Income Tax
			

Profit / (Loss) as per the Income Statement
20,983,934
(27,684,091)
(-) Income from other sources				
Interest Income
8,527,953
32,572
Dividend Income
657
884
Profit on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment
3,636,047
4,745,980
Project Contribution write back
68,140,211
Vehicle Disposal
2,850,000
Profit on Share Disposal
470,435
Reversal of over provision of Interest on Bank Loans
54,655,354
Reversal of over provision
4,761,599
Reversal of over provision of Retirement Benefit
17,121,013
		
		
(122,058,321)
(49,584,540)
Disallowable Expenses
145,741,960
40,971,097
		
		
23,683,639
(8,613,443)
Allowable Expenses		
(76, 522,841)
(75,899,291)
		
Adjusted Tax Loss
(52,839,202)
(84,512,734)
		
Statutory Income (interest income)		
8,527,953
32,572
Less : Tax Losses set off		
(2,984,784)
(11,400)
		
Taxable Income
5,543,170
21,172
		
Tax liability
		
Taxable Income at 28% ( 2010 - 35%)
1,552,088
7,410
		
Social Responsibility Levy 2011 Nil (2010 - 1.5%)		
111
		
			
In accordance with the BOI agreement company enjoyed a tax exemption period up to 2010, and upon
completion of such exemption period company decided to apply the provisions of the Inland Revenue Laws.

Income tax on profits has been computed at the rate of 28% on the taxable income arising from the interest
income. 			
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12 Earnings/(Loss) Per Share					

The computation of basic earnings / (loss) per share is based on the net profit / (loss) attributable to ordinary
shareholders divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.		
			
				
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders		
19,431,846
(27,739,616)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
123,212,163
90,998,389
		
Basic earnings / (loss) per ordinary share (Rs)		
0.16
(0.30)
		
On 9th March 2011 the company announced the issue of 73,982,430 new ordinary shares by way of rights to
qualifying shareholders at Rs.11/- per share. The issue was on basis of 1 share for every 1 share held as of
the said date. As required by SLAS 34 "Earnings Per Share" the impact of the bonus element included within
the price of right issue has been adjusted in arriving at the number of ordinary shares used as the denominator
for the year end and accordingly prior period has been restated on this basis.
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7,795,858
617,563
(8,332,574)
80,847

792,235

2,032,218

9,872,920
(7,840,702)
-

10,076,108
417,105
(9,700,978)
-

1,215,190

10,678,907
126,014
(9,589,731)
-

-

2,349,627
38,029
(2,387,656)

-

2,428,125
(2,428,125)

Motor
Vehicles

-

2,558,183
852,728
(3,410,911)
-

-

4,263,640
(4,263,640)
-

3,410,911

3,410,911
-

4,263,640

4,263,640
-

8,043,317

532,269

4,816,262

2,828,085
25,607,861
338,915
2,264,341
(18,033,552)
(2,634,731) (5,022,388)

532,269

3,859,190
31,102,782
126,014
(17,430,433)
-		
(3,326,921) (5,755,046)

25,607,861

29,492,356
6,455,880
(4,883,295)
(3,107,069)
(2,350,011)

31,102,782

43,424,866
77,833
(3,107,069)
(9,292,848)

Leasehold Freehold Other Leasehold
Total
2010
Equipments Equipments Motor vehicles			

Net book value as at 31 December 2010
602,799
2,077,062
78,498
1,705,457
1,031,105
5,494,921
5,494,921
		
							

									
Net book value as at 31 December 2011
422,955
1,951,371
852,729
3,227,055
			
		
			
			

Balance as at 31 December 2011

Accumulated Depreciation (Rs.)
Balance as at 01st January 2011
Charge for the year
Revaluation Adjustment
Transfer to/ (from) Freehold/leasehold assets
Transfers to Investment Property
Disposals

Balance as at 31 December 2011

Cost (Rs.)
Balance as at 01st January 2011
Additions
Revaluation Surplus/(Deficit)
Transfers to/ (from) Freehold/leasehold Assets
Transfers to Investment Property
Disposals

Office, Machine Furniture &
Equipments
Fittings

13 Property, Plant & Equipment																	
									

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
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Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees											

14 Investment Property										
Leasehold
Land

Building, Plant & Property at
Total		
Machinery
Union Place		

Balance as at 1st January 2010
Additions during the year

1,542,733,585
-

2,798,483,402
459,990

250,255,500
-

4,591,472,487
459,990

Balance as at 31st December 2010
Additions during the year

1,542,733,585
-

2,798,943,392
2,427,919

250,255,500
-

4,591,932,477
2,427,919

Balance as at 31st December 2011

1,542,733,585

2,801,371,311

250,255,500

4,594,360,396

				
Investment property comprises a number of commercial properties that are leased to third parties and to
Seylan Bank PLC, the Parent. Each of the leases contains an initial non-cancellable period of 99 years.
Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the lessee. No contingent rents are charged.
In accordance with SLAS 40, a property interest under an operating lease is classified and accounted for as an
Investment Property on a property-by-property basis when the Company holds it to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Any such property interest under an operating lease classified as an Investment Property
is carried at fair value.
							

14.1 The carrying amount of Investment Property is the fair value of the property as determined by a registered
independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience
in the location and category of the property being valued. Fair values were determined having regard to
recent market transactions for similar properties in the same location as the Company’s Investment Property.
		

Investment Property										
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Address
Extent
Date of Valuation
Market Value
				
No, 90, Galle Road, Colombo 03.
0A - 3R - 24.55 P
29th December 2009
4,341,216,987
No. 257, Union Place, Colombo 02.
0A - 1R - 12.27 P
28th December 2008
250,255,500
			
			
4,591,472,487
			
A Valuation was carried out for Union Place property on 27th December 2011. As the valuation was based on
the assumption that the property is unencumbered without restrictions, valuation gain was not recognized in
the profit or loss for the year ended 31st December 2011 as the company is unable to realize benefits in the
foreseeable future.

14.2 If the Land and Building were stated at historical cost, the amounts would have been as follows;		
									
Land
Building
Total
			 2011

Total		
2010

Cost
Depreciation

640,549,318
(47,292,564)

832,354,970
(98,469,964)

1,472,904,288
(145,762,528)

1,471,562,242
(135,502,452)

Carrying Values

593,256,754

733,885,006

1,327,141,760

1,336,059,790
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Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees

15 Investment in Property Development Projects
		

		
2011
2010
		
Ja - Ela Commercial Complex (15.1)		
70,351,000
Moratuwa Housing Project (15.2)		
140,300,676
Naiwala Project (15.3)
		
		 210,651,676
		
				
		

15.1 Ja - Ela Commercial Complex							

Balance as at 1st January 		
70,351,000
70,351,000
Addition		Provision for Impairments
(70,351,000)
		
Balance as at 31st December 		
70,351,000
		
				
			

15.2 Moratuwa Housing Project								
			
Balance as at 1st January		
Addition
Transfers / Set off		

140,300,676
47,937
(75,890,560)

139,148,998
1,151,678
-

Transfer to Inventory (Note - 17)		
(64,458,053)
		
Balance
as at 31st December 		
140,300,676
		

			

15.3 Naiwala Project										

Balance as at 1st January		
16,863,063
16,863,063
Additions/Transfers		
Provision for Doubtful Receivables		
(16,863,063)
(16,863,063)
		
Balance as at 31st December		
		

investments. 			
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The impairment provision for the above was done due to the uncertainty of the realisiability of the

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
Amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees										

16 Investment securities		
		
2011			2010			
No. of
Market
Cost
No. of
Market
Cost
Shares
Value		
Shares
Value		
Quoted							
Nations Lanka Finance PLC
8,288 131,779
80,440 200,000 3,460,000 2,000,000
C T Land Development PLC
100
2,890
666
100
666
City Housing and Real Estate Co. PLC
250
4,650
2,421
250
5,200
2421
The Colombo Fort Land & Building Company PLC 100
4,900
917
100
17,880
917
Overseas Realty (Ceylon) PLC
100
1,400
316
100
1,530
316
Kelsey Developments PLC
100
2,320
817
100
1,500
817
Property Development PLC
100
5,220
1,728
100
4,500
1728
Colombo Land & Development Company PLC 1,250
68,625
241
1,250
24,250
241
East West Properties PLC
200
5,040
516
200
516
Equity One PLC
100
5,090
1,348
100
5,600
1348
O’ Nally Holdings PLC
100
7,270
867
100
867
York Arcade Holdings PLC
100
2,520
417
100
2,410
417
Blue Diamonds Jewellery World Wide PLC
78,600 636,660 176,850 170,000 578,000 382,500
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89,388

878,364

267,544

372,500 4,100,870 2,392,754

							
Unquoted							
MBSL Savings Bank Ltd
25,000
250,000
25,000
250,000
Ceylinco Venture Capital Investment Limited 95,000
950,000
95,000
950,000
Ceylinco Sports Complex
220,000
2,200,000 220,000
2,200,000
Asian Finance Company Limited
75,000
750,000
75,000
750,000
Ceycom Global Communication Limited
40,500
405,000
40,500
405,000
Ceylinco International Property Developers (Pvt) Limited 50,000
500,000
50,000
500,000
Ceyenergy Electronic Company (Pvt) Ltd
15,000
150,000
15,000
150,000
Certis Lanka Home Nursing & Swift Care (Pvt) Ltd.
75,000
750,000
75,000
750,000
Independent Financial News & Views (Pvt) Ltd
4,900
49,000
4,900
49,000
Ceylinco International Realty (Pvt) Ltd
200,000
2,000,000 200,000
2,000,000
E - Ceylinco. Com (Pvt) Ltd
60,000
600,000
60,000
600,000
International Consultancy & Corporate Services (Pvt) Ltd 5,000
50,000
5,000
50,000
Ceylinco PLC Technology ( Pvt ) Ltd
177,500
1,775,000 177,500
1,775,000
60,000
600,000
60,000
600,000
The Sitar (Pvt) Ltd
Standard Credit Lanka Ltd.
4,000,000
40,000,000 4,000,000
40,000,000
10,000
100,000
10,000
100,000
Certis Lanka Secure Logistics (pvt) Ltd
Ceylinco Seraka Investment Limited
510,000
5,100,000 510,000
5,100,000
Associated Property Developers Ltd
100
1,069
Ceylinco Cisco Ranaviru Services (pvt) Limited 10,000
100,000
10,000
100,000
5,632,900

-

56,329,000

5,633,000

-

56,330,069

Total		 878,364 56,596,544 		 4,100,870 58,722,823
Appreciation (Diminution) in Value as at 31 December			(56,329,000)			(56,329,000)
						
Cost for the investment securities			 267,544 			2,393,823
						
Change in appreciation / diminution in value recognized in profit or loss		
- 			(24,850,000)
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		2011

2010

17 Inventories											

Maintenance Material
1,156,165
1,075,177
		
		
1,156,165
1,075,177
		
Investment in Projects - Moratuwa			
Transfer from Investment in Property Development Projects (Note-15.2)
64,458,053
Less : Provision for Impairments
(21,745,053)
		
		
42,713,000
		
		
43,869,165
1,075,177
		

18 Trade & Other Receivables				
				

Trade Receivables		
62,762,460
64,131,665
Other Receivables 		
66,235,168
64,650,736
VAT 		
7,190,059
6,577,652
Trade and Other Receivables From Related Companies
15,312,043
7,623,411
		
		
151,499,730
142,983,464
Provision for Doubtful Receivables		
(98,780,872)
(98,318,089)
		
		
52,718,858
44,665,375
		

19 Other assets				
			

Deposits 		
2,566,022
2,766,022
Prepayments		
2,437,065
1,415,492
Advances		
25,108,886
14,935,945
Plan Assets (Note 25.1)		
224,690
4,314,281
		
		
30,336,663
23,431,740
Provision for Doubtful Receivables		
(13,776,540)
(14,579,839)
		
16,560,123
8,851,901
		
		

19.1 Provision for doubtful receivables						

20 Short term investments

FINANCIAL REPORTS

Balance as at 1st January		
129,761,153
75,902,873
Over Provision Reversal		
(1,167,135)
Provision during the year		
826,619
53,858,280
		
Balance as at 31st December		
129,420,637
129,761,153
		
		

				
Fixed Deposit		
80,942,601
5,942,601
Debentures 		
200,000
200,000
		
		
81,142,601
6,142,601
Provision for Impairment		
(6,042,601)
(6,042,601)
		
75,100,000
100,000
		
The impairment provision for the above was done due to the uncertainty of the realisability of the assets. The
provision include Fixed Deposit investment in Standard Credit Lanka Limited. (Formerly known as Ceylinco
Investment & Reality Ltd) and Debenture investments in Ceylinco Fashion Trend Ltd.				
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21 Income tax Receivables 		
		 2011

2010

As at the beginning of the year		
2,989,217
(8,716,577)
Income tax for the period
(1,552,088)
(55,525)
Less: Tax paid		
38,187
6,272,854
Notional tax
762,115
WHT
2,939,045
5,119,654
ESC
939,925
368,811
		
As at the end of the year		
6,116,401
2,989,217
		

22 Stated capital											
			

147,964,860 Ordinary Shares (2010-73,982,430)		
1,553,631,030
739,824,300
Share Premium 		
90,760,620
90,760,620
Capital Redemption Reserve Fund 		
525,493,650
		
		
1,644,391,650
1,356,078,570
		
				
			
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per individual present at meetings of the shareholders
and one vote per share in case of a poll and are also entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to
time.													

FINANCIAL REPORTS

23 Interest bearing loans and borrowings						
								

Non current interest bearing loans and borrowings
				
Finance Lease Liabilities		
1,077,315
		
		
1,077,315
		
Current interest bearing loans and borrowings
				
Secured Bank Loans		
269,418,780
Unsecured Bank Loans		
154,140,211
375,235,247
Loans from Related Party		
Finance Lease Liabilities		
1,238,644
		
		
800,032,882
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24 Deferred tax liability										
			
Balance
Recognized
Recognized
Balance		
1 Jan 2011 in profit or loss directly in Equity 31 Dec 2011
				
Revaluation gain - Property Plant & Equipment
168,873
168,873
Revaluation gain - Investment Property 334,155,380
(66,831,076)
267,324,304

334,155,380

-

(66,662,203)

267,493,177

				
No provision has been made in respect of deferred taxation as the Company has incurred tax losses and the
temporary differences are not expected to reverse due to the above component and it is not probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the Company can utilise the benefits there from. The
amount of taxable temporary differences and the resultant tax effects are as follows:			

24.1
Unrecognized deferred tax liability
				
		 2011
2010
				
Property Plant and Equipment and Investment Property		
(433,163,945)
(362,289,867)
		
Total taxable temporary difference		
(433,163,945)
(362,289,867)
		
Unrecognized Deferred Tax Liability		
(121,285,905)
(126,801,453)
		

24.2 Unrecognized deferred tax assets

Tax Losses Carried Forward		
827,681,312
777,826,893
		
Total deductable temporary difference		
827,681,312
777,826,893
		
Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets		
231,750,767
272,239,413
		

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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25 Other Liabilities					

				
		
2011
2010
				
Trade Payables 		
18,274,184
19,596,308
Other Payables 		
20,355,825
88,527,412
Accrued Expenses		
431,326
72,186
Rent in Advance & Security Deposits		
18,004,326
27,975,394
		
		
57,065,661
136,171,300
		
			

25.1 Plan Assets 					

The amount recognized in the Balance Sheet
					
Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligations - ( Note 25.1.b )		
10,101,783
9,351,076
Fair Value of Plan Assets - ( Note 25.1.c )		
(10,326,473)
(13,665,357)
Unrecognized Actuarial Gain or ( Loss) - ( Note 25.1.d)		
Unrecognized Past Service Gain Non Vested - ( Note 25.1.e)		
		
Provision for Defined Benefit Obligations		
(224,690)
(4,314,281)
		

		

25.1.(a) Plan Assets consist the following

REPO and Fixed Deposits		
10,236,916
13,428,763
Cash		
89,557
236,594
		
Provision for Defined Benefit Obligations		
10,326,473
13,665,357
		

		

25.1.(b) Movement in the Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligations
				

FINANCIAL REPORTS

Liability for Defined Benefit Obligations as at 1 January		
9,351,076
28,864,472
Current Service Cost		
960,520
951,298
Interest Cost		
748,086
3,175,092
Unrecognized Actuarial (Gains) / Losses		
2,279,477
(15,622,167)
Payments made ( including benefits paid by the Plan) 		
(3,237,376)
(8,017,619)
		
Liability for Defined Benefit Obligations as at 31st December
10,101,783
9,351,076
		
			

25.1. (c) Movement in plan Assets 					

Fair value of Plan Assets at 1 January		
13,665,357
16,057,739
Expected Return		
1,062,390
1,028,172
Contribution Paid		
Benefits Paid		
(3,237,376)
(8,017,619)
Unrecognized Actuarial Gains / (Loss)		
(1,163,898)
4,597,065
		
Fair value of Plan Assets at 31 December		
10,326,473
13,665,357
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25.1.(d) Unrecognized actuarial (Gain) or Loss

		
		
2011
2010

Balance as at 1st January				
Actuarial (Gain) / Loss for year - Obligation		
2,279,477
(15,622,167)
Actuarial (Gain) / Loss for year - Plan Assets		
1,163,898
(4,597,065)
Actuarial Gain /( Loss) Immediately Recognized		
(3,443,375)
20,219,232
		
Balance as at 31st December		
		
			

25.1.(e) Unrecognized Past Service Cost Non Vested Benefits 			
		

Balance as at 1st January		
Amount Recognized in the Income Statement		
		
Balance as at 31st December		
		

		

25.1.(f) Amount Recognized in the Income Statement 				

Current Service Cost		
960,520
951,298
Interest Cost		
748,086
3,175,092
Expected return on Plan Assets		
(1,062,390)
(1,028,171)
Actuarial (Gain) / Loss Immediately Recognized		
3,443,375
(20,219,232)
		
		
4,089,591
(17,121,013)
		

25.1.(g) Actuarial Assumptions					

				
Normal Retirement Age		
55 years
55 years
Rate of Discount		

10%

8%

Salary Increase			

FINANCIAL REPORTS

Long term salary
Long term salary
escalation rate
escalation rate
of 10%. Next
of 5%. Next
increment due on
increment due on
01st April 2012.
01st April 2011.
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26 Related Party transactions
Parent and the ultimate controlling party
The Company is a subsidiary of Seylan Bank PLC, which owns 51.83% of controlling interest of the
Company.										

Transactions with the Key Management Personnel					
According to Sri Lanka Accounting Standard 30 (revised 2005) - Related Party Disclosure, Key Management
Personnel are those having authority for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity.
Accordingly, the Board of Directors, Acting General Manager / Chief Executive Officer (AGM / CEO) and their
immediate family members have been classified as Key Management Personnel of the Company.
Immediate family member is defined as spouse or dependent. Dependent is defined as anyone who depends
on the respective Director for more than 50% of his / her financial needs.						
				
Mr. R.Nadarajah is the Chairman of this Company and is also a Director of Seylan Bank PLC.			
Key Management Personnel have transacted with the Company during the period as follows:			
							

a. Loans given to Key Management Personnel								
		
		 2011

2010

Balance as at 31st December		
2,040,000
2,040,000
				
		
Above interest free loan was given to the former Director/General Manager Mr. M.L.P. Jayatilaka of the
Company (Ceased with effect from 10th October 2010). No impairment losses have been recorded against the
above balance outstanding during the period and no specific allowance has been made for impairment losses

FINANCIAL REPORTS

on the above either.
									

b. Key Management Personnel compensation for the period comprised:			
				
		
2011
2010

				
Short term employee benefits		
940,000
8,727,942
Post employment benefits		
1,362,720
In addition to their salaries, the Company also provides non cash benefits to Directors and Executive Officers
and contribute to post an employment defined benefit plan on their behalf. Directors' Emoluments are disclosed
in Note 9 to the Financial Statements.
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c. Key Management Personnel and Directors transactions
Number of key management personnel and their related parties hold positions in other entities that result in
them having control or significant influence over financial or operating policies of these entities.			
							
A number of these entities transacted with the Company during the year. 						
The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances related to Related Parties are as follows;

26.1 Related Party Transactions		

Parties
accomodated
Seylan Bank
PLC

Director / Key
Management Personnel
(Relationship)
Mr. R. Nadarajah
(Chairman)
Mr. S. Palihawadana
(Director)

Transaction
Loans and advances
from Seylan Bank

Transaction
value for the
year ended 31
December 2011
(542,544,408)

Overdraft

-

Overdraft interest, debit
tax and Bank loan
interest

Mr. K. Rathnayake
(Director/Acting General Interest Income
Manager)
Investments
Bank charges

Administrative Services
Sri Lanka
Insurance
Corporation

Mr. M. De Alwis
Mr. P. Kudabalage

Balance
outstanding as
at 31 December
2011
(15,715,926)
(2,478,840)

(23,064,996)

-

8,519,091

898,945

80,626,854

80,626,854

50,320
98,544,669

7,208,917

Insurance
2,439,580

-

												

d. Seylan Developments Employees’ Gratuity Trust Fund
Following Directors/ Key Employees of the Company are also Trustees of the Seylan Developments Employees’
Gratuity Trust Fund.												
- Mr. K. Rathnayaka						
- Mr. P. Saravanapavan						
- Dr. P. M. Gunasekera						
The above trust fund has invested in REPO's at Seylan Bank amounting Rs. 4,334,723
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27 Litigation and claims

There are no litigations and claims against the Company, other than the followings;			
(a) Income tax for the year of assessment 2005/06 (Rs. 9,287,489/-) and 2006/07 (Rs. 14,028,233/-)
determined by Commissioner General of Inland Revenue ( assessment No. 8740923, 8240889) have
been referred to the Board of Review. The Board of Review has not yet scheduled a date of hearing. The
Company is of the view that the above assessment would not have any material impact on the Financial
Statements.											
(b) Income tax for the year of assessment 2008/09 (Rs. 8,581,317/- assessment No. 6416959). The Company
is of the view that the above assessment would not have any material impact on the Financial Statements.
			

28 Post balance Sheet Events
There have been no material events after the Balance Sheet date that would require adjustments to /or
disclosure in the Financial Statements.						
												

29 Commitments and contingencies						
Capital expenditure approved by the Board of Directors for which provision has not been made in these account

amounted to approximately.
		
2011
2010
Approved and contracted for 		

11,219,806

-

30 Capital commitments
There were no material capital commitments outstanding as at the Balance Sheet date except for the
following.						

FINANCIAL REPORTS

The following corporate guarantees are given for following companies:
Company

Facility Amount

Financial Institution

Ceylinco Industries (pvt) Ltd

29,000,000

People's Bank

Ceylinco Packaging Co. Ltd

38,000,000

People's Bank

Company Provided Rs. 40,200,000/- during the year for the Corporate Guarantees given to Ceylinco Industries
(PVT) Ltd. and Ceylinco Packaging Co. Ltd. as they were Non Performing as at 31st December 2011.
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31. Comparative Information
Comparative Information has not been restated or reclassified during the year.

32	Operating Leases									
32.1	Leases as lessee									
The Company had entered in to a 99 year operating lease with the UDA (Urban Development Authority) with
the view to set up/conduct and operate a business for the construction of a office and apartment complex in
1992. The Company paid a nominal rent to UDA for the occupying the land.					
										

32.2	Leases as lessor									
The Company leases out its Investment Property held under operating leases (see Note 14). The future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as follows:						
		

							
		
2011
2010
				
			
Less than one year		
183,838,397
179,421,280
Between one year and five years		
919,191,984
1,088,388,518
More than five years		
13,604,041,360
13,456,596,000

				
During the year ended 31 December 2011 Rs. 148,451,419 was recognized as rental income in profit or loss
(2010: Rs. 143,156,566).			

				

FINANCIAL REPORTS
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2011
2010
		 Rs
Rs
Revenue
			
Interest		
8,751,362
32,572

FINANCIAL REPORTS

Rental Income
148,451,419
143,156,566
Other Inocme
82,775,959
10,836,615
		
Total Revenue		
231,227,378
153,993,181
Segment Depreciation
2,264,341
6,455,880
			
SEGMENT RESULT			
Profit / (Loss) before tax
20,983,934
(27,684,091)
Income tax expense
(1,552,088)
(55,525)
		
Net Profit / (Loss) for the year
19,431,846
(27,739,616)
		
			
OTHER INFORMATION			
Segment Assets
4,806,728,482
4,898,821,912
Segment Amortization
(4,816,262)
(25,607,862)
		
Total Assets
4,801,912,220
4,873,214,050
		
			
Segment Liabilities
382,237,678
1,354,043,406
Shareholders Funds
4,419,674,542
3,519,170,644
		
Total Liabilities
4,801,912,220
4,873,214,050
		
			
Cash Flows from Operating activities
(107,040,329)
(47,806,209)
Cash Flows from Investing activities
(52,640,854)
5,116,021
Cash Flows from Financing activities
166,442,067
110,880,585
		
		 6,760,884
68,190,397
Balance as at 1st January 		
452,954
(67,737,443)
		
Balance as at 31st December 		
7,213,838
452,954
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SHARE INFORMATION

Range Of Share Holding

No. Of Share

Total Number Of

Holders

Shares

% As At
31.12.2011

31.12.2010

1 - 1,000

4,692

1,521,155

1.03

1.12

1,001 - 10,000

3,467

11,990,988

8.10

7.50

10,001 - 100,000

799

22,790,602

15.40

12.92

100,001 - 1,000,000

89

22,877,877

15.46

18.48

Over 1,000,000

6

88,784,238

60

59.98

9,053

147,964,860

100

100

TOTAL

Public Share Holding

48.16%			

No. of Share Holders as at 31st December 2011 - 9,053

DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS
No. Of Shares
31.12.2011

No. Of Shares
31.12.2010

Mr. R. Nadarajah

15,000

-

Mr. H. L. Gunasekara

1,000

1,000

Mr. S. Palihawadana

Name Of The Director

6,600

-

Mr. R. M. K. K. B. Rathnayaka

-

-

Mr. P. Saravanapavan

-

N/A

Dr. P. Mervyn Gunasekera

-

N/A

Mr. S. R. Wijesinghe

N/A

5,740

Mr. V. R. De Silva

N/A

110

Mr. C. Kotigala

N/A

-
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TWENTY MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

Name of Shareholder

No. of Shares
31.12.2011

%

No. of Shares
31.12.2010

%

1

Seylan Bank PLC

76,688,880

51.83

37,203,584

50.29

2

Mr. Perera K D D

7,400,000

5.00

3,700,000

5.00

3

Amina Investments Ltd

2,000,000

1.35

1,150,000

1.55

4

First Capital Markets Ltd/Mr. S W.U
Arunashantha

1,407,400

0.95

1,030,000

1.39

5

Mrs. M M Udeshi (DESC)

1,287,958

0.87

1,287,900

1.74

6

Singalanka Standard Chemicals PLC

1,000,000

0.68

-

7

Mr. Sithampalam A

769,128

0.52

741,300

8

Mr. Ferdinandis T C H

684,000

0.46

-

9

Asian Guild Financial Services (Pvt) Ltd

609,121

0.41

621,303

0.84

10 Zagra Investment Consultants (Pvt) Ltd

594,200

0.40

609,423

0.82

11 Bank of Ceylon A/c Cey Bank Unit Trust

565,900

0.38

-

12 Mr. M M Udeshi

526,862

0.36

508,062

525,000

0.35

-

14 Mr. Tay Biak Chye

505,948

0.34

481,900

15 Mr. Duraisamy Ganeshamoorthy

500,000

0.34

-

-

16 L B Finance/T D H R Senanayake

485,900

0.33

-

-

17 Dee Investments (Pvt) Ltd

440,000

0.30

340,000

18 Mr. Imtiaz T L M

416,800

0.28

-

-

19 Seylan Bank PLC / Jayantha Dewage

400,000

0.27

-

-

20 Dr. Senthilverl Thirugnanasambandar

381,800

0.26

829,600

13

Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC /
Sinali Capital (Pvt)ltd
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1.00
-

0.69
0.65

0.46

1.12
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Changes In Fair Values
Finance Cost & Provisions
Profit/(Loss) Before Tax
Tax
Profit/(Loss) After Tax
Transfer To Capital Redemption
Reserve Fund
Profit /(Loss) for the year
Balance Sheet
Assets
Property , Plant & Equipments
Investment Property
Investment - Securities & Projects
Current Assets
Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Non Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Capital & Reserves
Stated Capital
Reserves
Retained Earning
Shareholder’s Fund
Weighted Average Number of
Shares
Earning/(Loss) Per Share
Net Asset Per Share
Dividend Per Share
Market Value Per Share Year End
Staff Members

Operating Expenses

Description
Total Income
Rent Income
Other Income

(27,739,616)

5,494,921
4,591,932,477
213,045,499
62,741,153
4,873,214,050
940,810,711
413,232,695
1,354,043,406
3,519,170,644
1,356,078,570
2,073,232,126
89,859,948
3,519,170,644
90,998,389
(0.30)
47.57
17.00
35

3,227,055
4,594,360,396
267,544
204,057,225
4,801,912,220
59,544,501
322,693,177
382,237,678
4,419,674,542

1,644,391,650
525,927,896
2,249,354,996
4,419,674,542

123,212,163
0.16
29.87
12.30
31

73,982,430
1.28
47.94
9.50
54

1,356,078,570
2,073,232,126
117,599,564
3,546,910,260

13,932,509
4,591,472,487
253,606,884
119,004,210
4,978,016,090
821,301,761
609,804,069
1,431,105,830
3,546,910,260

94,764,365

2010
2009 Restated
153,993,181
149,000,620
143,156,566
139,751,049
10,836,615
9,249,571
153,993,181
149,000,620
(60,885,110) (152,763,179)
93,108,071
(3,762,559)
350,567,145
(120,792,162) (251,377,632)
(27,684,091)
95,426,954
(55,525)
(662,589)
(27,739,616)
94,764,365
-

19,431,846

2011
231,227,378
148,451,419
82,775,959
231,227,378
(62,974,384)
168,252,994
(147,269,060)
20,983,934
(1,552,088)
19,431,846
-

73,982,430
(5.30)
30.95
4.50
48

1,356,078,570
926,339,375
7,516,004
2,289,933,949

1,402,102,935
1,151,493,932
498,331,609
463,530,345
3,515,458,821
649,458,891
576,065,981
1,225,524,872
2,289,933,949

(392,467,351)

2008
186,770,518
148,881,839
37,888,679
186,770,518
(182,679,882)
4,090,636
(285,392,925)
(104,103,440)
(385,405,729)
(7,061,622)
(392,467,351)
-

73,982,430
3.03
36.76
9.00
52

1,356,078,570
926,339,375
436,974,571
2,719,392,516

1,433,335,254
1,226,544,412
605,761,760
453,173,122
3,718,814,548
424,589,772
574,832,260
999,422,032
2,719,392,516

224,307,222

2007
209,413,432
142,445,934
66,967,498
209,413,432
(148,164,909)
61,248,523
203,775,766
(26,571,681)
238,452,608
(14,145,386)
224,307,222
-

Financial Information - Ten Year Summary

73,982,430
0.67
34.33
0.50
8.25
52

1,356,078,570
926,339,374
257,264,643
2,539,682,587

1,446,381,065
1,226,957,424
457,226,858
173,093,056
3,303,658,403
336,519,415
427,456,401
763,975,816
2,539,682,587

49,202,839

2006
217,968,858
141,283,563
76,685,295
217,968,858
(124,650,360)
93,318,498
(27,358,473)
65,960,025
(16,757,186)
49,202,839
-

73,982,430
0.55
34.06
0.40
5.75
47

1,356,078,570
1,090,316,291
73,677,859
2,520,072,720

1,461,744,687
1,022,768,646
405,118,623
230,198,677
3,119,830,633
186,136,730
413,621,183
599,757,913
2,520,072,720

40,523,009

2005
170,745,893
117,962,108
52,783,785
170,745,893
(104,609,859)
66,136,034
(21,382,830)
44,753,204
(4,230,195)
40,523,009
-

72,531,795
0.57
34.39
3.00
47

1,356,078,570
1,090,316,291
47,661,208
2,494,056,069

1,486,641,890
1,022,791,703
11,122,823
256,106,460
2,776,662,876
90,125,494
192,481,313
282,606,807
2,494,056,069

41,016,061

2004
711,251,217
140,015,274
571,235,943
711,251,217
(93,652,335)
617,598,882
(36,582,821)
581,016,061
581,016,061
(540,000,000)

72,531,795
0.41
24.81
3.00
38

1,356,078,570
436,914,243
6,645,146
1,799,637,959

1,262,189,990
858,671,812
11,122,823
121,970,076
2,253,954,701
159,378,609
294,938,133
454,316,742
1,799,637,959

3.75
38

72,531,795
(0.30)
24.42

1,356,078,570
438,404,143
(22,982,804)
1,771,499,909

1,259,977,985
858,106,236
7,666,323
152,958,025
2,278,708,569
140,538,775
366,669,885
507,208,660
1,771,499,909

(22,080,828)

(22,080,828)
-

29,627,950
29,627,950

2002
131,867,111
114,460,091
17,407,020
131,867,111
(89,678,615)
42,188,496
(64,269,324)
(22,080,828)

2003
154,391,595
132,303,103
22,088,492
154,391,595
(78,578,108)
75,813,487
(46,185,537)
29,627,950

Notice of Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE TWENTIETH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
OF SEYLAN DEVELOPMENTS PLC WILL BE HELD ON 29TH MARCH 2012 AT 9.30
A.M. AT THE “RAJA BOJUN” RESTAURANT, SEYLAN TOWERS, NO.90, GALLE ROAD,
COLOMBO 03 FOR THE FOLLOWING PURPOSES

AGENDA
1. To receive and adopt the Annual Report of the Directors and the Statement of Audited Accounts for the
year ended 31st December 2011 and to receive the Report of the Auditors thereon.
2. To re-elect Mr. R.M.K.K.B. Rathnayaka who retires in terms of Articles 93 (a) of the Company’s Articles of
Association as a Director of the Company.
3. To re-elect Dr. P. Mervyn Gunasekera who retires in terms of Articles 85 (a) of the Company’s Articles of
Association as a Director of the Company.
4. To re-elect Mr. M.K.Muthukumar who retires in terms of Articles 85(a) of the Company’s Articles of
Association as a Director of the Company.
5. To re-appoint the retiring auditors, M/s KPMG Ford Rhodes Thornton & Company Chartered Accountants
and to authorize the Directors to determine their remuneration.
6. To authorize the Directors to determine contributions to charities and other donations for the year 31st
December 2012.
7. To transact any other business of which due notice has been given.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
Seylan Developments PLC
SSP CORPORATE SERVICES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

...................................
Secretaries
Date: 24th February 2012
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FORM OF PROXY
I/We, ……………………………………………..................…….............................................................................
of ……….……………………………………..................……..................................................................................
being a member/members of Seylan Developments PLC hereby appoint Mr/Mrs/Ms ……..…….......................
....………......……............................................................................(NIC No.………………………………………)
of …………………………………..........................…………………...........................................................……….
Whom failing,
Mr. Ramanathan Nadarajah of Colombo 07

whom failing

Mr. Somadasa Palihawadana of Kotte

whom failing

Mr. R. M. Kapila Keerthi Bandara Rathnayaka of Athurugiriya

whom failing

Mr. Ponniah Saravanapavan of Dehiwela

whom failing

Dr. P. Mervyn Gunasekera of Malabe

whom failing

Mr. M. K. Muthukumar of Colombo 04
					
as my /our proxy to represent me/us and vote and speak for me/us on my/our behalf as indicated below at the
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 29th March 2012 at 9.30 am and at any adjournment
there and at every poll which may be taken in consequence thereof.
Please indicate your preference by placing a √ against the Resolution Number. 		

FOR

1. To receive and adopt the Annual Report of the Board of Directors and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2011 and to
receive the Report of the Auditors thereon.
2. To re-elect Mr. R. M. K. K. B. Rathnayaka who retires by rotation in terms of
Article 93 (a) of the Company’s Articles of Association.
3. To re-elect Dr. P. Mervyn Gunasekera who retires in terms of Articles 85 (a)
being a director appointed during the year.
4. To re-elect Mr. M. K. Muthukumar who retires in terms of Articles 85(a) being
director appointed to fill a vacancy.
5. To re-appoint the Auditors M/s KPMG Ford Rhodes Thornton & Company
Chartered Accountants until the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration.
6. To authorize the Directors to determine contributions to charities and other
donations for the year 2012.
As witness my/our hand/s this ………………….……..day of ……………………….		

…………………………….					…………………………….
(Signatures)
NIC Number / Reg. No .						

AGAINST

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE COMPLETION OF FORM OF PROXY

1. Please complete the Form of Proxy after filling in legibly your full name and address and by signing in the
space provided.
2. Please return the completed Form of Proxy to the Company after deleting one or the other of the alternative
words indicated by asterisks in the body of the form and by indicating with an 'X' in the space given against
each resolution how you wish your vote to be cast.
3. The completed Form of Proxy should be deposited at the office of the S S P CORPORATE SERVICES
(PRIVATE) LIMITED at No. 101, Inner Flower Road, Colombo 03, 48 hours before the time appointed for
the holding of the meeting.
4. If the proxy has been signed by an Attorney the relative Power of Attorney should accompany the completed
proxy for registration, if such Power of Attorney has not been registered with the Company.
5. If there is any doubt as to how the proxy should vote by reason of the manner in which instructions under
(2) above have been carried out, the proxy holder may vote as he thinks fit.
6. If the shareholder is a Company or body corporate, a form of Corporate Representation executed under its
Common Seal in accordance with its Articles of Association or Constitution should be submitted.
7. Shareholders/Proxy attending the Annual General Meeting are kindly requested to bring with them their
National Identity Card or any other form of valid identification.

NOTES

NOTES

